
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	RP-2005-0020

EB-2005-0381


	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:
	1

January 23, 2006

Gordon Kaiser

Cathy Spoel

Ken Quesnelle


	Presiding Member and Vice Chair

Member 

Member


RP-2005-0020

EB-2005-0381

THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O. 1998, c.15, Schedule B;

AND IN THE MATTER OF an Application by Hydro Ottawa Limited pursuant to section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 for an order or orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates for the distribution of electricity, to be implemented on May 1, 2006.

Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, North Hearing Room,

Toronto, Ontario, on Monday,

January 23, 2006, commencing at 10:01 a.m.

-----------

Volume 1

-----------

B E F O R E:

GORDON KAISER


PRESIDING MEMBER AND VICE CHAIR

CATHY SPOEL


MEMBER

KEN QUESNELLE


MEMBER

A P P E A R A N C E S

MICHAEL MILLAR


Board Counsel

NEIL MATHER



Board Staff

MARTIN BENUM

KEITH C. RICHIE

JERRY FARRELL


Hydro Ottawa

HELEN NEWLAND

BILL HARPER



Vulnerable Energy Consumers






Coalition

BRIAN DINGWALL


Canadian Manufacturers &






Exporters

TIMOTHY TURNER


Toronto Hydro 

I N D E X   O F   P R O C E E D I N G S

Description







Page No.

Appearances






1

Preliminary Matters





2

Hydro Ottawa Limited – Panel 1:



6

William Bennett, Lynne Anderson, Roger Marsh, 

Michael Grue; Sworn


Examination by Mr. Farrell


6


Cross-examination by Mr. Millar


19

--- Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.



42

--- On resuming at 11:03 a.m.



42

Hydro Ottawa Limited – Panel 1:





William Bennett, Lynne Anderson, Roger Marsh, 

Michael Grue


Continued Cross-examination by Mr. Millar
42


Questions from the Board



53

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:09 p.m.

66

--- On resuming at 1:15 p.m.



66

Preliminary Matters





66

Hydro Ottawa Limited – Panel 2:



67

Lynne Anderson, William Bennett; Previously Sworn


Examination by Mr. Farrell


67


Cross-examination by Mr. Gibbons

72


Cross-examination by Mr. Poch


86



Procedural Matters





97

Submissions re McShane letter made by Mr. Millar
99

--- Recess taken at 2:15 p.m.



107

--- On resuming at 2:40 p.m.



107

Submissions re ROE made by Mr. Rodger


108

Submissions re ROE made by Mr. Farrell


110

E X H I B I T S

Description







Page No.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  LETTER FROM MS. McSHANE


4

EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  CVs OF HYDRO OTTAWA LIMITED - 

6

PANEL 1

EXHIBIT NO. K1.8:  MODIFIED VERSION OF EXHIBIT 5A 
14 TO REFLECT CHANGES ARISING OUT OF THE SETTLEMENT 

PROPOSAL 

EXHIBIT NO. K1.9:  SUMMARY OF SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL 
15

EXHIBIT NO. K1.10:  DISTRIBUTION LOSSES DOCUMENT

66

EXHIBIT NO. K1.11:  POLLUTION PROBE DOCUMENT BOOK 
73

RE DISTRIBUTION LINE LOSSES

EXHIBIT NO. K1.12:  MECHANISTIC APPROACH TO UPDATE
104

COST OF CAPITAL PERAMETERS

EXHIBIT NO. K1.12 – PART 2:  GRAPH INDICATING 
     106

TREND LINE



U N D E R T A K I N G S

Description







Page No.

NO UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED DURING THIS HEARING
Monday, January 23, 2006


--- Upon commencing at 10:00 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated. 


Can we turn on the lights over there?   The Board is sitting today to hear an application filed with the Board on April 2nd by Hydro Ottawa Limited under section 78, to set just and reasonable distribution rates to be implemented May 1, 2006.  The Board held an Issues Day in this matter on November 18th, at which time certain issues and topics were approved by the Board and were attached to a procedural order issued by this Board on December 1st.  


Pursuant to that procedural order, a settlement conference was held on December 6th through December 8, and then on January 13th, subject to those settlement conferences, the applicant filed a settlement proposal on January 16th.  We're here today to hear submissions with respect to that settlement proposal.


May have the appearances please. 


APPEARANCES: 

MR. MILLAR:  Michael Miller for Board Staff.  With me are Mr. Neil Mather and Mr. Martin Benum. 


MR. FARRELL:  Jerry Farrell for the Applicant, Hydro Ottawa Limited, and with me is Helen Newland.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Farrell.  Any other parties present?  


MR. HARPER:  My name is Bill Harper, I’m here on behalf of the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Harper.


MR. DINGWALL:  Brian Dingwall, I’m here on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall. 


MR. TURNER:  Timothy Turner with Toronto Hydro.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Turner.  


Mr. Millar, how do you want to proceed?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


MR. MILLAR:  There are a couple of preliminary procedural matters, Mr. Chair.  The first, as you may be aware, is there are actually three proceedings going on at the Board today.  There is the Enwin issues conference, and there is also Hydro One across the hall.  Some of the intervenors are trying to manage their time to work between them.  And I understand there is a break being held in two of the proceedings at around 11 o'clock today, and they have asked I ask this Panel that some time be made available, I don't know if we would take our morning break then or stand down for 5 or 10 minutes, but I believe the intervenors want to have the opportunity to consult to see who needs to be where to make sure that the right people are in the right room at the right to deal with the right issues.


MR. KAISER:  So what are you saying, we should have our break at 11:00?


MR. MILLAR:  I know that's only an hour away.


MR. KAISER:  I’m just try to understand.  They want everyone to break at the same time?


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  So they can conference.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. MILLAR:  A second preliminary matter, I discussed this with my friend, Mr. Farrell.  This relates to the ROE issue.  As you are aware, there is a new gloss on the ROE issue from something which came up in the Toronto Hydro case.  Of course, it’s the same Panel, so you are all aware of that.  You instructed Board Staff to put their position on this issue in writing.


MR. KAISER:  This is with respect to Ms. McShane’s letter?


MR. MILLAR:  That's correct, Mr. Chair.  We're in the process of doing that, and the letter should be -- we're hoping by lunch it will be ready, or over the lunch break.  I would suggest that we defer the ROE issue until we have that document, because that will allow everyone to know what Board Staff’s position is on this issue.


MR. KAISER:  That issue you’re speaking of is whether, as I recall, Ms. McShane is stating that the Board, in its Handbook, made the wrong calculation for ROE.


MR. MILLAR:  That’s right, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  You’re going to address that.


MR. MILLAR:  That’s right.


MR. KAISER:  Does Mr. Farrell have a copy of the McShane letter?


MR. MILLAR:  I’m not sure if he does.


MR. FARRELL:  I do.  I was actually going to ask that it be made an exhibit on this record.


MR. KAISER:  That's a good idea, Mr. Farrell.  Why don't we do that, Mr. Millar.


MR. KAISER:  And so, Mr. Millar, you are going to tell us what the Board's position is with respect to that after lunch?  


MR. MILLAR:  That’s right, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. MILLAR:  The exhibit will be K1.1.


EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  Letter from Ms. McShane.


MR. KAISER:  If you have something available before        then, can you distribute it to counsel so they are not hit by surprise.


MR. MILLAR:  Absolutely.  I'll check on our break.


MR. FARRELL:  Could we make that exhibit K1.6?   I want to go through my witnesses, the application, the interrogatory responses, so I was suggesting we start with K1.1 and move forward, and the documents that have been pre-filed go up to number 5.


MR. MILLAR:  K1.6, then.  Thank you, Mr. Farrell.


MR. FARRELL:  I have additional copies of McShane letter which I can provide at the break just for the Board's public record.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. FARRELL:  And I would indicate, as this thing plays out, if there's any reason to impanel Ms. McShane, she is in the room.  Hydro Ottawa had retained Ms. McShane on January 5th to assist us with argument.  Because our issue, it revolves around argument, and that why she is here.  


She’s available either in this context or, as I recall, at the hearing on Friday, the Toronto Hydro context if the Board so --


MR. KAISER:  You might want to consider that kind offer, Mr. Farrell, in case you have some questions of her.  Let Mr. Farrell know whether you need to examine Ms. McShane.


MR. MILLAR:  I will do that.


MR. KAISER:  I didn’t realize she’d be here, but since she's here, maybe you want to take advantage of that. 


MR. MILLAR:  I think that is, unless Mr. Farrell has any more –-


MR. FARRELL:  No, I don't.


MR. MILLAR:  So I guess we should start.


I assume you would like to introduce the settlement proposal.


MR. FARRELL:  Yes.  Well, what I thought I would do is I would have the witnesses approve the application and interrogatory responses, the usual drill.  On Friday I filed their CVs and a few other exhibits that were intended to assist the Board in better understanding the settlement proposal, and what I'll call the key settled issues.  So maybe we’ll just go through that exercise now.


I'll introduce the members of the witness panel first and then ask they be sworn.


As you can see I'm presenting a panel of four witnesses.  Nearest to me is Mr. William Bennett, he is director of distribution planning.  To his right is Ms. Lynne Anderson, she's director of regulatory services.  To her right is Mr. Roger Marsh, he's director customer care operations.  And to his right is Mr. Michael Grue, who is the treasurer.  They are all employees of Hydro Ottawa Limited.  So could they be sworn or affirmed.


HYDRO OTTAWA LIMITED – PANEL 1:   


WILLIAM BENNET; Sworn.


LYNNE ANDERSON; Sworn.


RODGER MARSH; Sworn.


MICHAEL GRUE; Sworn.


EXAMINATION BY MR. FARRELL:


MR. FARRELL:  Mr. Chair, I filed the curricula vita for these witnesses on Friday.  Do you and your colleagues have copies?  


MR. KAISER:  Yes, we do.


MR. FARRELL:  May I ask whether you need additional copies for the Board’s public record?  


MR. KAISER:  Do you have copies, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  We have copies, thank you.


MR. FARRELL:  May I have an exhibit number for that?  I got confused with the sequence.  I put in my notes that these would be intra-hearing exhibit, either K or L.  I'm ambivalent.  I’ve written in my notes L1.1, but we could make it K1.7 if you wish.


MR. MILLAR:  I think we'll stick with K, if that’s okay with you Mr. Farrell, and we'll go with K1.7.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  CVs OF HYDRO OTTAWA LIMITED–PANEL 1


MR. KAISER:  Okay. 


MR. FARRELL:  Ms. Anderson will act as the captain of the panel, Mr. Chair, so I suggest that Mr. Millar and other people who might have questions direct questions to her in the first instance.  She'll answer questions directly or direct the questioner to one of her colleagues, or perhaps both, and follow-up questions can be asked accordingly.  


I'll start with Ms. Anderson.  And I assume, since I'm not attempting to call these witnesses as expert witnesses you don't need me to lead them through their CVs.


MR. KAISER:  No, that's fine, Mr. Farrell.  Thank you


MR. FARRELL:  Ms. Anderson, Exhibit K1.1 is a binder that contains Hydro Ottawa’s 2006 EDR application, the manager’s summary and related material, including the models.  Was this exhibit prepared by you or under your direction or control?


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, it was, with the assistance of members of this panel and other staff at Hydro Ottawa.  


MR. FARRELL:  And is Exhibit K1.1 accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, it is.  There were some corrections identified in certain interrogatory responses, and there may be a few clerical errors.


MR. FARRELL:  And I believe that you indicated before we started that there was a correction that you wished to make to the CIS report.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, we did note something that wasn’t referred to in the interrogatory responses, and it's actually under tab C of the application in a document called “Review of customer information systems, CIS.”  There are 12 pages, and the reference is on page 8 of 12.  


Okay.  We just noted -- the note at the very top of the page, we wanted to make a correction on.  It does refer to time and materials prices and fixed price bids.  We just wanted to clarify that all of the original bids were based on time and materials.  The fixed price contract that we ended up with was actually negotiated with the successful candidate.  So we wanted to clarify that that’s slightly different than what's noted there.
     MR. FARRELL:  Next, Ms. Anderson, Exhibit K1.2 is the application for final recovery of regulatory assets.  Was this exhibit prepared by you or under your direction or control?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, it was.
     MR. FARRELL:  Is Exhibit K1.2 accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, it is.
     MR. FARRELL:  Next is Exhibit K1.3, and it is the application to adjust rates for retail transmission service.  Was this exhibit prepared by you or under your direction and control?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, it was.
     MR. FARRELL:  And is this exhibit accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, it is.
     MR. FARRELL:  Next is Exhibit K1.4, and this is a binder that contains Hydro Ottawa's responses to interrogatories, specifically Board Staff, the Consumers Council of Canada, the Green Energy Coalition, Pollution Probe, the School Energy Coalition, the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition and Energy Probe. 

One exception, which is the interrogatories and responses that pertain to the Board's EB-2005-0523, or CDM, proceeding.  Was this exhibit prepared by you or under your direction and control?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, it was, again with the assistance of my colleagues here on the panel and other staff at Hydro Ottawa.
     MR. FARRELL:  And is this exhibit accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, it is, though we have noted a few clerical errors.
     MR. FARRELL:  Finally, Ms. Anderson, Exhibit K1.5 is a binder that contains the settlement proposal, the additional evidence in support of the settlement proposal, and Exhibits 1 through 13 of the additional evidence.  Was this exhibit prepared by you or under your direction or control?
     MS. ANDERSON:  The settlement proposal prepared by you, Mr. Farrell, under my direction and in consultation with other parties to the settlement proposal.  The additional evidence, though, that was filed was filed under my direction and control with the assistance, again, of colleagues here and other personnel at Hydro Ottawa.
     MR. FARRELL:  And is Exhibit K1.5 accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, it is.
     MR. FARRELL:  Gentlemen, I have one question for each of you.  If I were to ask you the same questions I have asked Ms. Anderson but only in respect of the exhibits for which you provided assistance, would you give the same answers?  Mr. Bennett?
     MR. BENNETT:  Yes, I would.
     MR. FARRELL:  Mr. Marsh?

MR. MARSH:  Yes, I would.

MR. FARRELL:  Mr. Grue?

MR. GRUE:  Yes, I would. 

MR. FARRELL:  Ms. Anderson, I would like you to explain why Hydro Ottawa selected a forward test year.  

MS. ANDERSON:  Certainly.  I think obviously this was a very major decision that Hydro Ottawa had to undertake as part of this application.  

I think the first key point was that a test year is meant to be a proxy for your 2006, and that the options on the table, filing with, for instance, a historic test year with adjustments or the forward test year, particularly the option around the historical test year with adjustments was meant to be a way of determining a proxy or developing kind of a typical year for 2006.  

And I will note that, in undertaking the decision that we did, it was based on, I guess -- was based on activities or items that were part of 2004 that were not typical.  

In making that decision, I will point out that in filing a forward test year that this is a true bottom-up business planning approach that we undertook to come up with this forecast for 2006.  There were areas, yes, that increased but there were also areas that decreased.  This was not a simple update of our ‘04, 2004, data.  It was a full forecast of 2006.  So the revenue requirement that we were seeking here was not simply an update of our 2004 environment.  And there's very good reasons why we had to take that approach.       

First of all, in 2004 we did have a strike.  It lasted about seven weeks and it was about 80 percent of our work force, so a very material event that occurred in that time period.       

While that not only had an impact on 2004, it actually had impacts that spanned into 2005, because during that period, which was towards the end of the year in 2004, we had to defer a lot of our capital work and therefore, as we moved into 2005, we had to get caught up in that capital work.  If our staff is working on capital, then they are obviously not expensing their time.  So it has sort of a spin-off impact on our operating expenses, certainly in the first quarter of 2005.       

Any strike of this duration, obviously, while it lasted seven weeks, the impact does last significantly longer than that.  And while perhaps the tier one adjustment available in the handbook around non-routine, unusual events might have been explored, the fact is it's not -– it’s a very, very difficult exercise to try and quantify the impact of that strike.  Because it's like trying to say, Well, what would your financials have looked like if that strike hadn't occurred?  How much time would staff have been doing on capital versus how much on operating?  Just an extremely difficult exercise.  

But that wasn't the only thing that was unique about 2004.  We also, after about an 18-month project, implemented a new customer information system.  This was a very major project for us.  It took a lot of our resources on to a capital project again, which had implications on our operating expenses in 2004.  And while it was a customer information system, it did touch every aspect of our organization because it is fully integrated with our enterprise business system or our finance system.  It also integrates with our geographic information system, so it touched our operations group, our finance group, as well as a very, very large impact to our customer service group as well.       

A third thing also happened in 2004.  We had been doing both street lighting, maintenance and design work for the City of Ottawa and had been doing so since the formation of the company.  In the tail end –- well, sometime in 2004, the City of Ottawa issued a request for proposal for street lighting maintenance services and as a result of that request for proposal Hydro Ottawa will no longer be doing maintenance services for street lighting for the City of Ottawa, and that started to change in 2005 and we’ll be out of the business of maintenance in 2006.

Just to put it in scope, the revenue associated with both the maintenance and design of street lighting in 2004 was about 4.6 million, so it was a very, very material impact.  We still do the design work but that's actually the smaller portion of the work.  The maintenance was the large brunt of that.       

So we had basically three major things, and while we did note there was a tier-1 adjustment that was meant to try and make the year more typical.  If there had been maybe one of these three, that might have been something we could contemplate.  But with these three major, major issues within 2004, it did become a very atypical year for us.  We just felt we had no other option but to stay true to the handbook, which said if you are doing anything other than the very pure -- purely defined tier one adjustments, you had no option but to go with a forward test year.

I will also add that there's something a little unique to -– in 2005 that also affected our 2006 application, and that was the launch of what we call, I guess, our comprehensive asset management strategy.  

After several years of gathering data about our assets in the field, in 2005 we finally -– we structured this into a really comprehensive plan that looked at the condition of the assets, the number of these assets, the age of these assets, and looked at that -- kind of the life span and what replacement schedules we needed to look at for them.  We obviously balanced this off against level of service to customers, certainly impact to customers, and we had to look at really a long-range plan here.  

What that was telling us is that, I guess internally we call it, the wave is coming.  There is an aging infrastructure, a lot of these assets being built in a tight time frame, that replacements are going to have to take a step up.  And this asset management approach was showing us this information.       


So for 2006, we also knew that we wanted to take that first step from where we were to where we were going to need to be to start replacing these assets.  And we just didn't feel that we could wait to start moving down that road, because as indicated we saw that we had to take start taking the step.


So I think that was a really important aspect of our application as well, was this asset management strategy.


MR. FARRELL:  Thank you, Ms. Anderson.  


Mr. Chair, also on Friday I filed three documents that are intended to assist the Board in understanding the main settled issues.  I would like to have Ms. Anderson identify and explain these for the purposes of explaining the settlement proposal.


First, do you have copies, Mr. Chair?  


MR. KAISER:  Yes, I believe we do.  


MR. FARRELL:  The first is entitled Exhibit 5A, and I believe the next exhibit number is exhibit K1.8.


MR. MILLAR:  That's right. 

EXHIBIT NO. K1.8:  MODIFIED VERSION OF EXHIBIT 5A TO REFLECT CHANGES ARISING OUT OF THE SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL.


MR. FARRELL:  Ms. Anderson, was be exhibit K1.8 prepared by you or under your direction and control?


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, it was.


MR. FARRELL:  Is the exhibit accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, it is.


MR. FARRELL:  Would you please explain the purpose of this exhibit.


MS. ANDERSON:  The purpose of this exhibit was to show the changes in operating expenses that resulted from the settlement that was filed.


MR. FARRELL:  This, in effect, Mr. Chair, is the modified version of Exhibit 5 which was filed with the settlement proposal.  And as you can see, what this exhibit adds in the second to the right column is the specific amount of money attributable to each line where it was affected by the settlement proposal.  The original Exhibit 5 did not have that.


Next is a document entitled “summary of settlement proposal.”  I guess that would be exhibit K1.9.  


EXHIBIT NO. K1.9:  SUMMARY OF SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL.


MR. FARRELL:  Ms. Anderson, was exhibit K1.9 prepared by you or under your direction or control?


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, it was.


MR. FARRELL:  And is the exhibit accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, it is.  


MR. FARRELL:  Can you please explain the purpose of this exhibit.


MS. ANDERSON:  What this exhibit was intended to do was to explain the impact to rates of the settlement that was filed – the settlement proposal that was filed.  So what it shows at the -- it has got three components. 


At the top it shows the change in the revenue requirement that resulted from the settlement.  So you can see the first item is where the revenue requirement was, and where it is as a result of the settlement, for a change of roughly 2.4 million in the revenue requirement.  


It further highlights where those changes occurred.  So in each of the different categories, whether it's return on rate base, operating expenses, other revenue, amortization expense and PILs.


There was a further aspect to the settlement that had to do with a revision to the load forecast.  While that doesn't have an impact on the revenue requirements, what the increase in the load forecast does is essentially lower your unit cost.  So what it does is lower the rates that would be charged to customers.  


The impact that you see there at $735,000 was a calculated number if the settlement had not included the change in load forecast, and the final settlement, the difference in the total revenue requirement based on the reduced rates.  So that was, sort of, to highlight the impact of the load forecast change.  


And the third element looks at the impact to the 1,000-kilowatt-hour residential customer, which is the one that the Board uses for comparison purposes.  And whereas before the increase was 3.5 percent, as per our notice of application, it is now as a result of the settlement 2.8 percent.  And the revised dollars are there.


I will return just a little bit to, obviously, the 

revenue requirement aspect, because I think I just wanted to highlight some aspects there.  There were between -- you see the operating expenses and other revenues, and they have, sort of, a direct correlation to revenue requirement.  The reduction in capital expenditures, there was in the proposal a reduction of $19.5 million of capital expenditures.  I will further note, though, that of that 19.5, 5.5 million was for capital expenditures for assets that would not have come into service in 2006.  So while they were expenditures, they were not part of the rate base.  So the impact to the rate base, or what we call capital additions, the settlement proposal reduced the capital additions by 14 million.  


So the impact of that on the revenue requirement had to do with the change in the return on the rate base and the impact on the amortization expense.  And then there was a consequential effect that was determined, that as a result of reducing the capital and changes in CCA for tax purposes, the PILs amount did increase by actually 877, but as part of the settlement there was agreement for us to reduce that to only the 477,000 that you see on this sheet.


In our settlement proposal -- in our additional evidence, I mean, we did highlight the three main areas for the capital reductions.  One was around what we call the distribution plant, or poles, lines, transformers, that kind of thing.  One was related to IT, and another related to what we call facilities.  But basically, those are our buildings, office buildings, work centres, that a kind of thing.


I mentioned earlier that part of our application was about introducing our asset management strategy, and I wanted to mention that because in light of the settlement, we wanted to point out that we had taken an incremental step to address what we were seeing as part of our asset management strategy.  The settlement was about what size that step should be.  It’s not that we are not moving to that point, we're not taking -- we are taking that step to increase the amount of replacements.  


As part of the settlement, we just looked at the size that that step would be.  So this is not -- and later on Mr. Bennett will explain in some more detail some of those asset management aspects.  I just wanted to make that point clear.


MR. FARRELL:  Thank you, Ms. Anderson.  


Mr. Chair, I had filed one additional document entitled “distribution losses,” but I notice that neither Mr. Poch nor Mr. Gibbons is here.  So perhaps we can just postpone that, in case they have any objection or otherwise to it being marked as an exhibit.  We can deal with that this afternoon when we come to the disputed issue of the treatment of line losses.


MR. KAISER:  That's fine, Mr. Farrell. 


MR. FARRELL:  Thank you.  


The witnesses are available for questioning by Mr. Millar.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR: 


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you Mr. Chair, Mr. Farrell.  


Mr. Chair, I didn’t mention it off the top but I think everyone is aware, we will be dealing with the line loss issue this afternoon.  


Good morning panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  We have, of course, thoroughly reviewed the settlement proposal, and we have questions in a couple of areas.  Specifically, we want to dig a little bit deeper into capital expenditures, some issues related to taxes and PILS, and operations expenditures.  


So I'll start with capital, and I heard you, Ms. Anderson, speak about this, so thank you for providing us with a little more information.  I would like to ask just a few more questions.  


First, let me just make sure I have my facts right.  We are proposing here a 19.5 million reduction from the original application; is that correct?


MS. ANDERSON:  That’s correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And I heard you say --


MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry just to clarify, of capital expenditures.

     MR. MILLAR:  Right, and 14 million of that is capital additions and 5.5 million is construction work in programs, or CWIP.
     MS. ANDERSON:  Correct.
     MR. MILLAR:  And the total reduction we’d be looking at to the rate base for 2006 would be 6.6 million, approximately?

MS. ANDERSON:  When amortization is taken into account and a meatier rate base.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And that would reduce the total rate base to just under 510 million?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Correct.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, you mentioned that there were three areas where you made cuts, and if I heard you correctly, it’s IT, buildings or general plant, and the third is distribution plant.  And that’s just the 14 million; is that right?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that’s –-

MS. ANDERSON:  We asked the –- the construction work in progress of 5.5 was part of the buildings.
     MR. MILLAR:  Oh, that’s part of the buildings.  Okay.  So that includes the entire 19.5 million, then, these three areas?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that clarification.
     Are you able to break down approximately how much of the 19.5 million falls into each of those three categories?  

MS. ANDERSON:  Certainly.  In the first category, which we called distribution plant, there was 7 million.  Of the second category, that involved IT, and it was 4.75 million.  And the remaining -- there was -- the other main category was in facilities, which is – I’m doing math in my head - 5.5 million of construction work in progress plus 1.65 million of capital additions.  And someone hopefully can do that math quickly for me, but those are the components.

There was an additional 600,000 of -- I guess in sort of the tools area, which we didn't consider a main category.  It was a much smaller component.
     MR. MILLAR:  I’m sorry, tools area?  Could you explain a little bit about what that is?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Tools were basically some field devices or hand-held devices that we were looking at to use out in the field.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, actual tools.
     MS. ANDERSON:  Actual tools, yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  That was $600,000.
     MS. ANDERSON:  That was 600,000.  We didn't categorize it in our write-up because it was actually not a main area.  Our description in the additional evidence was about, sort of, the three main categories.
     MR. MILLAR:  I see.  And all that adds up to the 19.5 million.
     MS. ANDERSON:  It should, yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  So from distribution plants, we're looking at 7 million?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell us about what -– were matters sort of cut out of the budget entirely?  Are we talking delays to these line items?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  Predominently what we were looking at is delays, because a lot of it had to do with asset replacement.  And as I indicated, it's not about –- it wasn't about taking the first step of asset management, it was about how large that step should be.  Perhaps I will ask Mr. Bennett if he can give a little bit more detail of the areas.
     MR. BENNETT:  Sure.  The asset management process is looking at a cost-effective enhancement maintaining of the reliability system.  And so in looking at size of the step, if you like, for example, we looked at pole replacement.  In 2005, we did approximately 250 poles.  We were proposing 450.  We were proposing a levelized program over the next 10 years.  In looking at the settlement proposal, we looked at meeting the requirement as outlined in the asset management plan of 350 poles, as an example.
     MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, I heard you say 450.  Did you reduce it by 100?
     MR. BENNETT:  That's right, yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  That's for 2006?
     MR. BENNETT:  In 2006, yes.  Following that same process, we took a look at vault rehabs.  Our sidewalk vaults, submersible equipment, we had proposed over a million dollars.  We have a huge project going on in the City of Ottawa, light rapid transit, a billion dollar program which is coming.  I've got the equivalent of a fifth of my design staff in a project team right now working on that.  There will be no actual capital additions in 2006; however, there may be opportunities to combine these sidewalk vault rehabs, replacements, with some of that project.  So we’ve reduced that by $500,000.

Other areas that we looked at, transformers, we had proposed –- we were in a complete transformer inspection program, looking at all of our transformers.  We were looking at them, name-plate and testing the oil in these units.  It's going to go into our geographical information system.  And we had proposed, over a four-year period, the significant replacement of transformers.  We've looked at the legislation and we will prioritize the replacement of transformers as per the legislation and scale back that program to the tune of about $1.5 million.

And one other area, significant area, was distribution enhancements.  We had identified in our application and in the question interrogatories information about distribution enhancements, and we've identified two programs that are good candidates to be done in the first quarter of 2007, good winter work.  There’s a slight delay but it means a reduction of about $1.5 million.
     MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, what are those two programs?
     MR. BENNETT:  There are two projects in distribution enhancements.  One is an underground project, which is a tie between our Albion and our Riverdale stations.  So that's a lead cable tie between those two stations.  And the other one was a 44 kV tie at our south end in Nepean where there’s a lot of growth going on.  It’s an overhead project.
     MR. MILLAR:  And what was the total?  Was that 1.5 million?
     MR. BENNETT:  1.5.
     MR. MILLAR:  So those are the major projects that will be delayed?
     MR. BENNETT:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  Now, you spoke about the poles, a reduction from 450 replacements to 350.  You may have said it but I missed it.  How much money are we talking there?
     MR. BENNETT:  About 1.3 million.
     MR. MILLAR:  Looking at that, sticking with the poles issue, the poles, I assume, have to be replaced for any number of reasons.  

MR. BENNETT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Presumably, as they get old, they all have to be replaced.  Some likely have to be replaced faster than others.  What leads you to believe that you can safely reduce the number pole replacements from 450 to 350?

MR. BENNETT:  One of the priorities of the asset management plan and in distribution itself is looking at reliability.  And as a distribution engineer, you’re almost never right until you’re wrong, so until they actual fall down and someone says, See, I told you so.  The fact is 350 in the asset management plan, those were the prioritized poles in the plan.  The issue that we face, really, right now in the asset management process is the wave, as Lynne was talking about.  When we look 10 years down the road, for example, 50 percent of the poles in the City of Ottawa were put in 40 to 50 years ago, and over the next 10 years many of those poles are going to come to the end of life or near end of life.  

So the issue was trying to levelize the program, start off this year with a step that we could handle but which would ease the impact of this wave.  In fact, what was identified for immediate replacement was 300 to 350 poles in 2006 and 2007.  So we can meet that requirement and maintain our reliability, but the size of the step is reduced.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But you're personally satisfied that 350 is a reasonable number and that's not going to have an impact on the safety or the reliability of the system.
     MR. BENNETT:  Yes, I am.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

Moving to second thing - and I apologize, some of these term are new to me so I might have missed it - something about vaults or –-

MR. BENNETT:  Yes.  We have in the downtown core, where all of the overhead has been removed, for example, there are large buildings which are fed from primary circuits underground and then there are a number of smaller businesses which are fed from the secondary underground distribution system.  And we use below-grade manhole, if you want, sidewalk vaults with oil-filled distribution equipment, transformers, et cetera.  Ottawa, unlike Toronto, we have a lot of snow, there’s a lot of salt, and a lot of that equipment takes a beating.  And obviously oil leaking is not a good thing; failure and outages are not a good thing.  And we've had a program to try to move this equipment into new buildings that are being constructed.  Make an arrangement with the owner and retire, if you like, the sidewalk vault.  Where we can’t do that, clean it up, replace the equipment, that type of thing.
     MR. MILLAR:  Try and get it off the sidewalk.
     MR. BENNETT:  That's exactly right.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And the reduction is $500,000; is that correct?
     MR. BENNETT:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  So how many of these vaults are we talking?
     MR. BENNETT:  We had identified six in the switching centre and the switching centre will get done, and three of the six is the target.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you’re reducing the number by three.
     MR. BENNETT:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  How did you prioritize which three would be moving?
     MR. BENNETT:  There's still some discussion on which three.  As I said, the light rapid transit project which is going ahead, there's going to be a complete overhaul on two of the major downtown streets and some of the side streets.  And right now, in fact, the team that I talked about was just named at the beginning of January.  They are busy looking at all of the impacts of that project.  They are doing estimates for the proponents that are biding on the project, and they are looking for opportunities to get rid of some sidewalk vaults, to retire some 4kV plant, and things like that.


MR. MILLAR:  And again, we're just talking about a delay here. 


MR. BENNETT:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  It will be done either in 2007 or 2008.  


MR. BENNETT:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  It will be done in the next couple of years.  Are you satisfied that this delay won't occasion any problems with the safety or reliability of the system?


MR. BENNETT:  I am.


MR. MILLAR:  The third thing I had was transformers.  How many transformers does Hydro Ottawa have?


MR. BENNETT:  About 40 thousands transformers.


MR. MILLAR:  And I assume every year you replace some of them.


MR. BENNETT:  Transformers, typically transformers get replaced after they fail.


MR. MILLAR:  So you run them --


MR. BENNETT:  You run them to failure.  The issue, primary issue here -- there were two issues, if you like.  Those are geographical information system and gathering all of the GPS information and name plate information for the transformers to put it into the GIS, which would then tie with our customer information system, so every customer would be tied to a transformer.  So we were gathering that data.  


At the same time, there is legislation about the removal of any transformers with pent up PCB contamination.  And so we're testing every one of the transformers at the same time.  We expected, out that have process, that we would generate about 500 transformers for replacement per year.  


The attack right now is to look more closely at prioritizing the transformers for replacement based on the legislation, which says that pad-mounted equipment, pole tops and sensitive areas get first priority and are to be out of service by 2009.


MR. MILLAR:  And how many of those will you have to replace by 2009, total?


MR. BENNETT:  It depends on what comes out of surveys.  We have finished our phase of the survey.  We will spread -- all of the survey was supposed to be done in 2006.  We will actually spread that out over 2006 and 2007.  And we still expect, based on the information we have been gathering, about the same number overall, but the program will be spread out over a couple of extra years.


MR. MILLAR:  We're looking at a $1.5 million reduction.


MR. BENNETT:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So is that encompassed entirely by delaying the replacement of transformer stations, or does that include the GIS figure?


MR. BENNETT:  No, that is just transformers, and that is just distribution transformers.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So how many transformers does $1.5 million work out to approximately?


MR. BENNETT:  It is about 150 transformers, depending on the location.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And did I hear you just say you had planned to replace 500?


MR. BENNETT:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So we are looking at about 350?  


MR. BENNETT:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  You said earlier that typically you run a transformer until it stops running.


MR. BENNETT:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So is it fair to say that you can't predict, obviously, with 100 percent accuracy how many transformers you'll to have replace in any one year.


MR. BENNETT:  Yes.  Typically, it's a historical guess, if you like.  The issue here is, because of the testing that we've already done, it's five to six percent of the distribution transformers that we expect to be above 50 parts and require some action.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now are you satisfied that reducing the number from 500 replacements this year to 350 won't impact the safety or reliability of the system?


MR. BENNETT:  I am.


MR. MILLAR:  The final item we had -- well I guess there was the tools, but there was -- actually no, tools is a separate issue.  The distribution enhancement.  And you said there were two programs.


MR. BENNETT:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  One is a lead cable tie between two of your stations.


MR. BENNETT:  That's right.


MR. MILLAR:  The other 45kV tie. 


MR. BENNETT:  44, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  44, I'm sorry.  Again you're just delaying these projects; is that correct?


MR. BENNETT:  Yes, the plan is to take place in the first quarter of 2007.


MR. MILLAR:  Let's talking about the first project, the lead table tie.  That’s between what two stations?


MR. BENNETT:  Albion and Riverdale.  


MR. MILLAR:  Is that replacing a line?


MR. BENNETT:  No, it is strengthening the tie between the two stations so that we can transfer load.  In fact, customers are fed on that underground loop between those two stations, and you can feed them from either station or you can break the loop and have multiple locations.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. BENNETT:  It's about a 5 kilometre cable run, if you like.  So pulling cable in the winter is doable. 


MR. MILLAR:  How much of the 1.5 million is attached to this project?  About 50/50?


MR. BENNETT:  Give or take.  Yeah, they are pretty close.


MR. MILLAR:  And are you satisfied that this can wait a year?


MR. BENNETT:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Let's look at the second project.  Can you tell me a little bit about that.


MR. BENNETT:  The second project is in the south end of Ottawa.  There is significant residential growth and business growth, and the 44kV tie was to follow along the CN tracks to tie and give better flexibility, reduce outage times in times of constriction.  


So it again is a potential winter job that we can do in the first quarter 2007.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you're not even putting it off a whole year; is that right?


MR. BENNETT:  No, that's right.


MR. MILLAR:  How long are you delaying it by, six or eight months or something like that?


MR. BENNETT:  Exactly.


MR. MILLAR:  Are you satisfied that delay won't occasion any compromise in the safety or reliability of the system?


MR. BENNETT:  I am.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Okay.  


I would like to move onto some questions about.  Ms. Anderson, are you the best person to answer those, or I’ll ask you and you can refer them as you see fit.


MS. ANDERSON:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Correct me if I'm wrong, the IT proposed reduction the 4.75 million.


MS. ANDERSON:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Could you break that down a little bit for me and tell me exactly what programs are being -- I assume we are talking delays rather than cancellations.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  Or correct me if I'm wrong. 


MS. ANDERSON:  Really, there are three components, but yes, they would be delays.  The major component of it is the geographic information system, or GIS as we call it.  Of the the 4.75 million, 4 million of it related to the GIS project and expanding out the timeframe of that project.  Many phases of that project have already been completed, and some of it is actually already in service, but this was an additional phase of that project. So largest portion is that.  


The other portion related to half a million, $500,000, is related to an upgrade to a new version of our enterprise business system, which internally we call it JD Edwards.  Essentially, for the most part, that's our finance system.  And when we filed the application, we had been informed by a vendor that they wouldn't be supporting this version further, therefore, the upgrade was not an option.  


Just fairly recently actually, the vendor has announced they will be continuing to support that system, so we will be deferring the upgrade of that system.


The other portion was $250,000 related to some enhancements to our CIS.  While that system has just come in place, obviously once you put it place sometimes there are some enhancements that can be identified from the users, things that they would like to do.  And we had scheduled quite a number of those enhancements for 2006, and the 250,000 is just a slight curtailment of those.  


So if you want specific questions about them, Mr. Bennett can answer the questions on GIS and Mr. Marsh on the CIS component.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  


Why don't we start with GIS, since that's the biggest ticket item.  That was $4 million; is that correct?   


MS. ANDERSON:  Mm-hmm.


MR. MILLAR:  And we’re talking about delaying portions of the GIS, is it an upgrade or is it entirely a new system?   Maybe you can fill me in a little bit on the background.


MR. BENNETT:  The GIS, the geographical information system, is a combined program with the OMS, the outage management system.  The outage management system is in place right now and operational.  The outage management system handles all of outage management data and the actual handling of the outage, in other words, keeping track of the crews, where they are and what they are working on.  


It will be integrated with the GIS, and in that sense, once the geographical information system is up and running, they will actually be able to track where the problem is, geographically, where they crews are, geographically, et cetera.


These were projects that were undertaken or started in 2003, somewhat impacted by the strike in 2004, but the biggest impact right now is that we're in a crucial stage in the geographical information system of translating maps from six former utilities.  All of the records for the utilities that formed Hydro Ottawa were paper.  They were of various formats, symboligies, et cetera.  This geographical information system will convert that to electronic, bring them into one format.  It will be the backbone of the operations group.  It will greatly enhance our asset management.  It will provide asset information that is comprehensive, current, accessible, comparable.  However, the accuracy of the information is critical.  

So, right now in this conversion process, we had planned that the conversion of all the information would be done by the end of 2006.  Over the latter part of 2005, we were going through pilots of conversion of this data, running into some issues with this information, and we had to take a decision:  Do we push ahead, complete all the conversion for 2006, recognizing that the quality might not be as high as we had initially specified and that there would be ongoing clean-up going on; or do we slow it down and stick to our guns on the quality of the information?

And, obviously, the up-take of this new product for people, accuracy is critical.  If it's not doing what it's supposed to do, people will not have faith in the project.  So we took the decision that we would spread the spending over 2006, 2007, keep our eye on the target on the accuracy of the information.

MR. MILLAR:  So is it fair to say you might have delayed this part of the project irrespective of the settlement agreement?
     MR. BENNETT:  It was a decision that we had to think long and hard about, and, yes, that might have been a possible outcome of that.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.
     MS. ANDERSON:  I would add, though, the decision-making around this actually happened right at the same time that we were working on the settlement, so the two were happening hand in hand.  

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.

MS. ANDERSON:  The decision had not been made prior 

to --
     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I'm not suggesting you were hiding this in the background.
     MR. BENNETT:  In fact, we just started into production.  I should also clarify that a little bit, that the conversion -- we go through pilot.  Once we accept that the pilots are acceptable, then we give the go-ahead for conversion.  We changed that in a sense that we did it piece by piece.  So we said there are areas in former Nepean, we accepted the pilot and they are in conversion; they started January 14th.  Areas of former Gloucester, we've accepted the pilots; they’re in conversion.  Ottawa, the old Ottawa is still in pilot.  So we broke the project down a little differently and we broke the deliverables back down a little differently so that we could get usable data for some of the areas ahead of time.  But the overall project will be spread over the two-year period.
     MR. MILLAR:  So I guess it goes without saying that you don't have any concerns about the safety or reliability of the system arising out of deferring this $4 million expenditure?
     MR. BENNETT:  No.
     MR. MILLAR:  In fact it might be just the opposite?
     MR. BENNETT:  Well, when this is done, it will enhance our planning, our design work, our construction work and obviously our asset management.  But in the meantime, no, it won't be a detriment to the safety or reliability of the system.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

There was also a $500,000 expenditure and this was related to your finance system; is that correct?

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  And who will answer questions on this?

MS. ANDERSON:  I will.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think you largely already answered my questions.  

If I understood you correctly, you thought you would to have replace it because they were discontinuing a certain system; however, you now can continue to use that system at least for 2006 and potentially for a couple more years.  But I guess that's a decision for future years.
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  That is a decision that was taken as part of this settlement.  The system actually went live in 2002 -- tail end of 2002 for one phase and then into 2003, so it's not like it’s an archaic system.  But, as you know, with software, versions are always changing and you have to stay on top of it.  We just didn’t have to do it for 2006.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you are happy to stick with it for 2006 --
     MS. ANDERSON:  Absolutely.
     MR. MILLAR:  -- and there shouldn't be any major impacts from that.
     MS. ANDERSON:  No.
     MR. MILLAR:  And finally, there was the $250,000 for enhancements to your CIS system.  I’ll ask you, do you think these will occasion any –- I assume this would relate to customer service, really.  Is that where -- if there were any impacts, is that where we would be?

MR. MARSH:  Maybe I could answer.  Our plans for 2006 is to invest in the self-serve functionalities, trying to offer the system more 24/7 to our customers.  So we’re going to continue with our plans there.  The curtailment was more on the internal views of the data, for internal staff, which are nice to have, however, not a must-have at this time.  So those were the –- the curtailment was done.  And in no way would the accuracy or the integrity of the CIS be affected.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you don't have a problem with delaying that by a year or however long. 

MR. MARSH:  Not by the delay, no.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

The final area –- I think those are all the IT expenses –-

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  -- that are being delayed.  

The final area we had was facilities or buildings, I guess, and here we’re looking at the 5.5 million in CWIP and then 1.6 -- what was the 1.6 million for?
     MS. ANDERSON:  1.65 is also various work centres and buildings, office buildings that we have.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But that's not CWIP?
     MS. ANDERSON:  No.
     MR. MILLAR:  Maybe you can tell me a little bit.  I understand this relates to you closing your centralized operations centre, and you're looking at opening some satellite offices; is that right?
     MS. ANDERSON:  In the application, there was no plan that the sale of our Albion, I guess, main office was going to happen in 2006.  That hadn't been contemplated.  But it is something that has been planned for a while, mostly because of, I guess, the location of that office.  It is the former Ottawa Hydro building and now is sort of the main city headquarters for Hydro Ottawa.  It’s becoming increasingly residential.  There are subdivisions growing up around us, and it made it very problematic for us to have large trucks coming in and out in the middle of the night.  

So because of that, we have actually –- well, partially because, we have been decentralizing operations so that now a lot of our operation centres are happening in other parts of the city at what we call our Merivale office.  We also have a Carling work centre, a Maple Grove one, which is in the west end.  So we now have sort of west, central, trying to look at response times, that kind of aspect.

But what we've been looking at is the east end of the city and that's –- really, the construction work in progress part of the settlement was related to the plan to build an east end operation centre in 2006.  So as part of the settlement we have deferred plans for that building.  It wasn't going to be in service in 2006, but we were planning on starting that process, having the capital expenditures predominantly completed.  

So all of this kind of falls in together.  If we're deferring the sale of the Albion building and therefore people are remaining there, the need for the east end is not as high; but not only that, not everyone would have been moving to the east end.  Some people would have been deployed to some of our work centres as well, and there would have needed to have been spending in those work centres in order to facilitate the move of the staff out at the Albion facility.  

So one decision kind of snow-balled into the others.  So by deferring plans to sell the Albion building and therefore deferring plans for the east end, we could also defer some of the spending that was planned in some of the other buildings, and so it became kind of part of one issue.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, as you said, you weren't planning on opening this east –- this centre in the east end of the city in 2006.  But prior to this change, the 5.5-million delay, when were you planning on opening that centre?
     MS. ANDERSON:  The likelihood is that it would be in service in 2007.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And are we now looking at 2008, or do you have a date in mind?
     MS. ANDERSON:  We do not have a final plan.  As a result of taking this decision, any moves now we would look at the whole picture again and bring it back to our board of directors for a new plan.  So we don't have concrete plans now for that.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But it won't be 2007; is that a fair guess?
     MS. ANDERSON:  That's a fair assumption.  But it all depends on the whole facilities planning as taken as a whole business plan.
     MR. MILLAR:  What sort of impacts do you foresee as a result of delaying this new centre?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Basically, it leaves us kind of the way we are now so that there's no -– there’s certainly no detriment; there’s no harm to the operations that we have.  We were looking at the east end as getting a little bit closer to that part of the city, but we haven't had work centres there.  Perhaps Mr. Bennett could talk about the impact of not having a work centre there.  But it's certainly -- it's where we exist now and have for the whole existence of the company.
    
MR. MILLAR:  But you do still plan to some day open an operations centre –-


MS. ANDERSON:  That is certainly still the plan, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  


I'll just ask quickly, you mentioned the $600,000 for tools.  Are you replacing tools?


MS. ANDERSON:  No it’s just some miscellaneous handheld devices that we were looking at, having some more devices out in the field with staff.  What we recognize is, certainly with the smart meter program as well, that there may be things we have to look at to react to changes to the technology in the field, and it is probably better to wait to see how that falls out before making decisions on what handhelds would be out there.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So again, we are looking at a delay rather than just cancelling purchases outright.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, and there will likely have to be something as a result of the smart meter program as to what handhelds people do need in the field with increased technology in the field.


MR. MILLAR:  Again, it might have been a good idea to delay this in any event.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chairman, I still have some questions on taxes, operations expenses.  However, I see it’s just after 11:00, and I know the intervenors wanted to caucus.  Might I suggest we take our morning break.


MR. KAISER:  That will be fine.  How long do you need, half an hour?  


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Harper, do you have an idea?


MR. HARPER:  20 minutes probably would be satisfactory.


MR. KAISER:  20 minutes.  Fine.  


--- Recess taken at 11:03 a.m.

     --- On resuming at 11:31 a.m. 
     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Millar?
     MR. FARRELL:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair.  Before Mr. Millar resumes, Mr. Bennett advises me that he misspoke himself in quoting a number.  If you look at Exhibit 3 in the settlement binder, actually it’s tab C, sub-tab 3, fifth row, so “Line Transformers” and the decrease is shown as 2.5 million.  Mr. Bennett has said on a couple of occasions it was 1.5 million to Mr. Millar.
     MR. KAISER:  Sorry, can you give me that again?
     MR. FARRELL:  Yes, sir.  Exhibit 5.1, tab C, sub-tab 3, which is Exhibit 3.  If you look at the far right-hand column and the fifth row, “Line Transformers,” the decrease was 2.5 million.  I believe Mr. Bennett a couple of times said 1.5 million.
     MR. KAISER:  Okay.
     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Bennett, just to make sure, does the change from 1.5 million to 2.5 million impact any of your other answers that we heard earlier?

MR. BENNETT:  No, it doesn't.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we left off –- I was just about to begin with the reductions to your operations expenditures.  Can you confirm for me, first of all, that we are talking $1.5 million; is that right?

MS. ANDERSON:  That's correct.
     MR. MILLAR:  And you provided a chart that has been entered as Exhibit K1.8.

MS. ANDERSON:  Correct.
     MR. MILLAR:  And I see that that is a -- one of the columns is listed as “Settlement” and the bottom line is $1.5 million.  That's obviously the $1.5 million we're talking about?.
     MS. ANDERSON:  Correct.
     MR. MILLAR:  And we saw there's six items where cuts were made; is that right?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we just go through them.  The first one is a $150,000 cut to operation.  Can you tell us a little bit about that?
     MS. ANDERSON:  I guess, first of all, as indicated in our application, our operations and maintenance departments are all part of one department, or these functions.  And if you want to see kind of consistency from year over year, you really have to look at operations and maintenance together as one function.  

So I think it's best that we look at, sort of, the 700,000 -–

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.

MS. ANDERSON:  -- the first line and the second line as a total, and I would ask Mr. Bennett to speak to that.
     MR. BENNETT:  Yes.  In the operation and maintenance categories, the total of 700,000, there's no one or two big hit items per se.  We've taken a look at a variety of areas within the operations group.  So, for example, rather than start the second stage of our apprentice hiring in January, we've looked at delaying it till Q3.  The apprentices that we'll hire in 2006 are underground apprentices.  It's important that we get them in 2006 because we are going to be putting them to work in 2007 on our relocations we have to do for the light rapid transit.  But we can delay it for a period of time, which is a reduction in the operations and maintenance expense.

As I talked about before in reducing the transformer inspection and testing, there's a component of the costs that's in the operation and maintenance expense for the transformer testing.  There’s an asbestos wrap removal program.  We have a contractor that’s in place doing that now.  We're going to look at focusing that removal.  It's a wrap we put on or PILC cable for arc-proofing.  But the rules about working in the manholes have changed significantly with regard to asbestos.  So it's not that we're mandated to get rid of it, but the rules around people working around it have tightened significantly, so we'll work on that.

This year, 2005 we're projecting –- we’ve worked very closely with Asplundh, our forestry contractor.  We’re projecting a $200,000 saving based on the tendered price that we were given.  So we’re going to work hard on that in 2006 as well to achieve a similar result.  

So there’s no one big activity but spread across a number of other activities, smaller activities.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And are you satisfied there won't be any negative impacts on the safety or reliability of the system occasioned by this $700,000 chunk?
     MR. BENNETT:  Yes, I am.
     MR. MILLAR:  The next item we see on the list is a $60,000 cut under “Billing and Collection”.  Can you tell us what that is?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Certainly.  And, for convenience, it might make sense to discuss both the billing and collection and community relations together.  

MR. MILLAR:  That’s fine.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Marsh is responsible for both those areas in -- as part of the discussion.  

I would like to point out one thing in this exhibit that was different from the first filing of this exhibit.  There's a note at the bottom that, in 2003, shows that subsequent to filing our interrogatories we noticed that there had been an inconsistency in how we had mapped some of the expenses between our community relations and billing and collection.  And as a result of filing this exhibit, we did change that mapping which shifted 700,000 between those two groups in 2003.  So it doesn't impact the actual settlement but is more for illustrative purposes.  

And I will point out that community relations is where we put our call centre functions, just to clarify what is meant by that.  And so I'll ask Mr. Marsh to speak to those areas.

MR. MARSH:  Okay.  On the billing and collection side, $60,000, and the big shift there is we're going to capitalize on our CIS that offers good functionality for bill messaging.  So we're going to cut down on mailing or billing stuffers and use the bill a lot more efficiently.  So that will give us $60,000 of savings in that area.  

On the call centre side, we have four or five areas.  One will be telephony charges.  That’s a big -– 170,000, and we're working on reducing that by about 30,000 in ‘06.  We're trying to control the increase in call volume, and to do that we're going to work hard on first-call resolution and we're going to offer more self-serve functionality to our customers.  So we're hoping that that will save us about 40,000.  

There's a few other areas - consulting fees, training and travel, and overtime - that we're going to try and curtail also.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Do most of these expenditures relate to customer service?  Would that be accurate?
     MR. MARSH:  They do.  They do.
     MR. MILLAR:  And what kind of impacts will we have on customer service as a result of these changes?   

MR. MARSH:  We don't foresee any significant impact on customers.  It’s more how we manage the cost.  I said telephony as an example.  It’s more, Do we stay with the same carrier?  Do we use different technology?  So that would be how we’re going to find the savings.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you don't see a significant impact on customer service?
     MR. MARSH:  No.
     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

Moving down the list, the next item is $200,000 under “Admin and General Expenses”.  Could someone tell us what these cuts are about?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Again, there’s no one area.  In this area, which includes regulatory finance, corporate services type functions, it's just a look at what we have put in for various consulting fees and trying to curtail some of that, and also the delay in hiring some of the vacancies that we were looking at.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And, again, any impacts on either customer service or the safety and reliability --
     MS. ANDERSON:  This would not impact customer service or safety/reliability at all.
     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Finally, there’s a $400,000 item under “Other Distribution Expenses”.  What are these other distribution expenses?
     MS. ANDERSON:  That is one item in particular, and that relates to property tax.  And we had expected a reassessment of property tax that would create an increase in the amount that we pay for property tax in 2006.  We had been anticipating that.  Even throughout 2005 we had anticipated it and even, for most of the year, were factoring that into our forecast in 2005.  It still has not happened and we certainly don't have an indication as happening in the foreseeable future.  So it really is just a reduction in our forecast of what we would pay in property tax.  

MR. MILLAR:  So this is something that’s actually out of your hands; is that right?
     MS. ANDERSON:  It is out of our hands, yes, but we had put in an increase on this expectation that hasn't yet happened.
     MR. MILLAR:  You don't think it will for 2006.

MS. ANDERSON:  Again, it is out of our hands, but we don't have any indication yet that it will.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  


I would like to move onto some tax issues.  Now, I understand that your settlement proposal altered your original PILs calculation; is that correct?


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And it led to an increase in your forecasted PILs allowance; is that right?


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  


MR. MILLAR:  And it was approximately $877,000.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And I think as part of the settlement you've agreed to exclude, for rate making purposes, $400,000 of this PILs allowance.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, just to make sure I'm entirely clear, I assume you'll still be responsible for paying this amount.  You don’t get a tax break.  


MS. ANDERSON:  We don't get a tax break.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Where do you intend to make up this $400,000?


MS. ANDERSON:  That -- that's not, I guess, a clear aspect.  It comes right off of our revenue requirement.  I guess with any business there is element of risks and opportunity in any business plan, and this one we don't have any particular proposal for addressing it.  It is just a lowering of our revenue that we will have to absorb somehow.


MR. MILLAR:  In fairness, $400,000 isn't an awful lot of money, but did I hear you correctly that you don't have a specific plan in mind as to where you'll find those savings, or whether it comes out of your ROE or what happens?


MS. ANDERSON:  We don't propose to cut additional expenses right now for that or curtail any services as a result.  As I said, there are risks and opportunities in any business plan.  If we're fortunate, some of those opportunities will come to fruition and we won't take a hit to the bottom line, but if they don't, then we would.  


MR. MILLAR:  So you are not planning any additional expenses.  If it can't be made up elsewhere, it will be a hit to your bottom line.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  We're hoping it doesn't, but that would be the outcome.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you have any comment on the appropriateness -- I mean, this is an expense you have to pay.  I don't think there's any question about that.  Do you have any comments on the appropriateness of removing that from the rate-making equation?


MS. ANDERSON:  Well, I guess it was part of the settlement.  This was a consequential impact that was not clear at the time that we were in the original meetings on settlement proposal.  The outcome of it was related to the IT expenditures that we had reduced and the fact that IT has a different CCA rate, a CCA of 100 percent compared to the book depreciation of five years.  So it was that consequential impact.  


Obviously, in the original discussions on this, this was not identified until we had actually run all of the numbers through all of our models, and that’s when we agreed to come to this agreement with the intervenors.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  How did it arise, Ms. Anderson?  Did the intervenors just say, We need another $400,000 and we don't care where you find it? 


MS. ANDERSON:  It arose when we filed a draft of the settlement proposal to the intervenors where we had sought to increase the PILs amount by 877.  And because that did come as a surprise to people, to the intervenors, I can't speak on their behalf, we did have a follow-up meeting where we discussed the impact and the fact that it hadn't been anticipated at the time of the settlement.  And we came to agreement with them on this proposal.


MR. MILLAR:  Ms. Anderson, are there going to be any negative impacts on the safety or reliability of the system as a result of this $400,000 -- you'll be taking $400,000 less revenue?


MS. ANDERSON:  No, there wouldn’t be.


MR. MILLAR:  But again, you don't have a specific plan as to where that is going to be recovered?


MS. ANDERSON:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


There's one final issue I want to touch on, again relating to tax.  I'm sorry to bore everyone with this, but it has come up in the Hydro One and the Toronto Hydro applications, and it relates to this new CCA rate class, 47.  Are you familiar with that, or is someone on the panel familiar with that? 


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, I have now heard of it, and if we get into the anything more than the fact that I’ve heard it of Mr. Grue will answer questions about it.


MR. MILLAR:  All right.  Mr. Grue, you are familiar with this new class, 47.


MR. GRUE:  Yes, I am.


MR. MILLAR:  And am I correct in saying that your current application does not take the class 47 into account.


MR. GRUE:  No, it doesn’t.


MR. MILLAR:  And can you tell me why?


MR. GRUE:  Well, we followed the OEB PILs model, as much as we file on a forward test year, so the rates were in there.  It was a closed model, we couldn't change the rates.  The other reason is that for the rates to be enacted they have to pass legislation, which I'm not going to pretend that I know all the steps before it's finally approved, but it is my understanding as we speak today it's not substantially enacted, and therefore, they are not in play yet.  


So we, accordingly, did not use those rates in our calculations.


MR. MILLAR:  I think you are quite right.  It is not yet in force, although, by all accounts it looks like will be.  But you are right; it's not currently in force.  


If this new rate classification does come into force, would you agree with me that there will be tax implications for the utility?


MR. GRUE:  I would agree with that.


MR. MILLAR:  How would you propose to deal with that?  Do you have a plan?  Would these be tracked in a variance account?


MR. GRUE:  I believe there already is a mechanism in place to handle that.  I can refer you to the Rate Handbook, actually section 7, where it talks about – a variance account will be established to capture tax impacts of legislative or regulatory change to the tax rates.  And I believe in December account 1592 was established to capture these types of changes, and I would see this being captured under that direction.  That will be going to the variance accounts.  


MR. MILLAR:  So if this comes into force, that's where you would plan to track it?


MR. GRUE:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Are you planning to go file for CCA class 47 in 2005?


MR. GRUE:  In 2005?  


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MR. GRUE:  At this time, no. I have actually talked to our tax advisors, and based again on the fact that it has not been substantially enacted, we would to have file our taxes based on the current legislation of the 4 percent rate.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  


Mr. Chair, those are, absent the ROE and the line loss issues, our questions on the settlement proposal.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MR. QUESNELLE:  I just wanted to hone in, Mr. Bennett, perhaps on the PCB issue that you had raised, the plans.  It kind of ties in with the -- well, I’d like to ascertain whether or not it ties in with the overall capital replacement plan that you have in mind.  Is there a dovetailing of that as things move forward?  You had mentioned briefly that there is, kind of, a ten-year wave that's coming, sort of thing.  Within that, would there be works associated with the PCB phase out that would dovetail with that, and is there an affect on delaying some of that PCB phase-out plan with your other capital replacements?  


MR. BENNETT:  There is a dovetailing.  For example, in the inspections that they are doing, they are finding leaking units or units that are in bad shape that require replacement.  As I said before, typically transformers get replaced when they fail or they are found leaking.  So it's a run them to failure type of operation for distribution transformers.


The asset management plan looks at this wave coming.  For example, when it's looking at cable, for argument’s sake, it's identifying that in many parts of our distribution territory cable right now should be being replaced, potentially, based on the information we have.  Transformers, as far as a replacement program in the asset management plan, isn't a big program.  The big replacement driver will be the contamination.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Again, the legislation suggested anything over 50 ppm is required to be out by 2009, is it?


MR. BENNETT:  For any pad-mounted equipment and pole-mounted equipment that is in sensitive areas: schools, health care facilities, old age homes, waterways, that type of thing.  There is a suggestion that the legislation could be moved up for other pole-mounted equipment, but it's not yet.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Have you had any incidents where you have had contaminated soil clean up requirements as a result of existing PCB transformer leaks?


MR. BENNETT:  Yes, but the fact is the clean up, whether it's PCB or just regular oil is the same.  You have to treat it the same, and it's an expensive clean up.  No doubt that that's changed significantly over the past few years, especially on pad-mounted equipment.  Pole-top equipment.  Typically somebody tells you, It's dripping on my car, come and do something about it.  But lots of the pad mounts are in backyards, surrounded by shrubs, you don't find it unless you look for it. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  So the effect of delaying the capital expenditure on this, in delaying it by still having to get in under the wire of the legislative requirement, will have additional cost then.


MR. BENNETT:  The effect of delaying it, yes, there's potential there are unit that are leaking that we won't find as early as we would have, and they won’t get changed, then, as early as we would have changed them.  That’s about a year delay in the inspection.  Anything that's found damaged or leaking will be changed immediately.  


So the delay in changing out PCB-contaminated equipment find during the inspection should not have an impact.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you. 


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Anderson, can you get Mr. Farrell to give you Board interrogatory 14?   This is your ‘05 capital additions.  Then to next to Exhibit 3, I think Mr. Farrell pointed you to this.  This is table 4.8 which deals with the capital additions for ‘04, ‘05, ‘06 and ‘06 settlement.  Do you have that?


MS. ANDERSON:  Exhibit 3?


MR. KAISER:  If any of these questions are better dealt with by another member of the panel, just direct me in that direction.  Looking at your answer to interrogatory 14, I read that to the effect that you had revised your estimate of capital additions in ‘05 down from 64.9 to 56.5; is that right?


MS. ANDERSON:  That was the estimate at that point. 


MR. KAISER:  Then when I looked at Exhibit 3, which Mr. Farrell just referred to us, I saw the 64.9 figure.  Is that the right figure or the wrong figure or –


MS. ANDERSON:  They are both estimates.  One was the estimate that we had as of June actuals, and this was an updated estimate as of September.  Obviously, it would be different again now because they always are estimates.


MR. KAISER:  Well, you revised your estimate in response to the Board interrogatory.  I assume there was some reason for that.  Would the 56 figure be the better figure to use on Exhibit 3 or the 64.9?  


MS. ANDERSON:  I guess in looking at the settlement we did take into account the fact that 2005 was changing, but the settlement was always based on the original 2005 estimate.


MR. KAISER:  Well, the settlement was based on 2006 estimate; wasn’t it?  It didn't have anything to do with 2005.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, we did take into account though the fact 2005 had -- the estimate had changed at that point.


MR. KAISER:  Here's my question.  I'm interested in understanding what's going on in this company with respect to capital expenditures over a period. 


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Exhibit 3 says they are dropping from 79 to 64, but if I read interrogatory 14, the 64 should be 56.  What happened?  I mean, ‘05 is now over.  Were capital expenditures back to the original estimate or is the estimate you gave the Board a couple months ago a better number for ‘05 experience?


MS. ANDERSON:  It was the number that we had at that time.  We do know that with a preliminary look at even further estimates that our capital expenditures are up from the September figure, though admittedly, so are also some of the contributions and grants.  So there are -- this was the number we had as of September actuals plus the estimate for the three months.


MR. KAISER:  Which is the number, the Exhibit 3 number?  


MS. ANDERSON:  The 56.


MR. KAISER:  Oh, the 56.  So should I be using 56 or 64.9?  


MS. ANDERSON:  For which purpose?  


MR. KAISER:  Well, for the purpose of Exhibit 3.  You've got an estimate of your ‘05 capital expenditures, on the interrogatory you revised the estimate to 56.5, and on this document, which is prepared days ago, you've gone back to the 64.  I just want to know which one I should be relying on.


MS. ANDERSON:  We went back to the 64, which is the amount that was in our original application.  There was an updated estimate provided as part of this interrogatory, so the 56 would have been the closer estimate at that point in time. 


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So would it be more accurate, for the purpose of my questions, to use the 56.5 number?


MS. ANDERSON:  Likely, depending somewhat on what the questions are, but yes, that was the updated estimate.


MR. KAISER:  Okay.  Now, I thought I heard you say, and I want to understand this clearly because it's come up in some of these other cases, in your opening remarks that you were - I'm using general language so you'll correct me – that you were concerned in Ottawa that the age of your plant was constantly increasing.  Did I hear words to that affect?


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, that a lot of infrastructure all went in around the same time, and that, yes, it would be aging.


MR. KAISER:  And this, as I’m sure you are aware, seems to be something that's happening right across the province.


MS. ANDERSON:  Probably even across the continent.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. O'Brien came here the other day and he told us that 50 percent of his, or 30 to 40 percent of his plant was beyond its proper life, it's depreciated life.  Would that be about the same case in Ottawa?


MS. ANDERSON:  I'm not familiar with that.  


Mr. Bennett, are you?  


MR. BENNETT:  Depreciated life, as per the 25 years you're talking about?  


MR. KAISER:  I presume so. 


MR. BENNETT:  I think that that's probably legitimate, yes. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Bennett, in these years, ‘04, ‘05 what would be the amortization that you would have charged or booked on your capital plant?   Say in ‘05, ballpark number.


MR. BENNETT:  Well, the amortization in ’04, I think it was 25 million, and in ‘05, 30 million.


MS. ANDERSON:  It depends on the asset that we are looking at.  For poles it would be --


MR. KAISER:  I mean the total, your capital plant.


MS. ANDERSON:  Oh, the total dollars.  Mr. Grue?  


MR. GRUE:  Mr. Bennett is correct in that it was approximately $25 in ’04, and estimated to approximately $30 million in ‘05.


MR. KAISER:  Now, I understand the answers you've given, Mr. Bennett, with respect to reliability.  But if there's a problem that the plant’s continually aging on us, should we be concerned that capital additions were 80 million in ‘04, they are dropping down to 56 million in ’05, and now your proposing to cut them down to 61 million.  Should we be concerned about that?  


MR. BENNETT:  The ‘04 issue, primarily, if I'm looking at this, IT is the big one and CIS, some $20 million for CIS was the big influencer there.  


The other thing is in your -- if you are using the ‘05 estimate as an example, the contributions were almost $18 million versus $8 million in 2004.  So there's a $10 million swing.  The work still gets done, but it doesn't get capitalized because it was contributions.  


So no, my short answer I guess is no, I wouldn't be concerned based on that comparison.


MR. KAISER:  What's in general plant?  What kind of equipment is in there?  


MR. BENNETT:  In the general plant, in the OEB item here, it is tools and trucks --


MS. ANDERSON:  And facilities.  A major part would be our buildings. 


MR. KAISER:  Now, I am just looking at the general trend and I’m just trying to understand what's going on.  You got $6 million in ‘04, you almost double that in ‘05 to $11 million, then you drop it back to half of that in the original, and then in the settlement you knock another $1.6 million so that the amount in 2006 is half of what you were spending in ‘04 and a third of what you were spending in ‘05.  Is that logical?  


MS. ANDERSON:  I think what we are seeing as an outcome, to some extent, of the fact that it is a new company as of November, 2000.  So we were the amalgamation of six entities that had six office buildings and various work centres.  So that over the course of the last few years we have been looking at that, particularly around buildings, our work centres and our office buildings.  So that you would have seen spending on some of those buildings in order to redeploy staff outside of the main office.  


For the first few years, we were based -- most of us were operating out of the Albion Road facility, which is the main office.  Subsequent to that, we had to upgrade the Merivale site, which is former Nepean Hydro to redeploy first one phase of the operations staff, and now a second phase.  So there has been fairly significant spending on our facilities in order to accommodate the movement of staff across the city and the relocation.  


What we're now saying is that we've done the most part of that, other than what we talked about in the settlement, which is the east-end operations centre.  So much of that work has now been done and we can go back to what I would call more normal capital costs for facilities until we take the next big step, which is to have the east end and to look at the future of the Albion facility.


MR. KAISER:  Now, the 19.5 million you are taking out of your capital budget, 5.5 million relates to construction work in progress, which is something you are just deferring, as I understand it.  So that leaves us with the 14 million.  As I read the effect on the rate increase, help me if I'm right, you say a 450,000 reduction in rate base, you reduce your amortization by 647,000 but that in turn comes around and increases the PILs, and we know you've decided to charge the customers only half of that amount.  


But even with that concession, you're only gaining a 600,000 reduction in terms of the effect on rates.  And I'm just wondering whether it's prudent to take $19 million out of your capital budget in an environment where plant is aging in order to achieve a $600,000 reduction in rates.  Does it make any sense?  


MS. ANDERSON:  I think, as we mentioned earlier, the asset management strategy is new to us.  It was something that was launched in 2005.  And what that involves, obviously, is gathering data on all of our plants and then assessing not only the condition of that plant but also the age of it and it's criticalness within the plant structure in order to determine what to replace.


I will say that that is a brand new strategy to us.  And while we definitely wanted to take this step, we wanted to move forward with it, it is new.  We will get better data over time, we will get better at assessing it and analyzing it, and the data will get better.  So I think what this reflects, to some extent, is yes, we're taking a step, but we're recognizing that perhaps we can take a slightly smaller step and learn from it.  We can learn from it, get better data, use that to formulate our decision making for 2007 and then 2008, and we'll get better and better.  So that when we're next before here with a cost-of-service, we'll have that much better data on which to make these decisions.  So it was, kind of, a recognition that this -- a large part of this is a new decision-making tool for us.  


I guess the simple answer, is it prudent?   There is still a benefit to the customer, there is, I guess, as far as from the rates perspective, there is -- this is not a one-year effect, as well, when you reduce capital.  What you are seeing is immediate rate base.  There are subsequent impacts to rate base.


And as far as the PILS go, PILs itself is a timing issue.  So that is something that does change over time.  


Did we feel it was prudent?   Yes, we made this agreement thinking this was a prudent step to do.


MR. KAISER:  I know you made the agreement.  I just wonder -- I guess what you are saying is don't worry about the 19 million we took out of this capital budget, it's not going to affect our operations because we think if we do a little more planning we can do a better job of it.  I worry if somebody takes 19 million out of the capital budget, if that 19 million was well thought out in the first place, i.e., it was needed in order to provide service, in order to prevent plant from continuing to go age all simply to reduce a $600,000 rate increase across the company, there’s level of proportionality here.  


It only makes sense if you say, We didn’t do this just because the intervenors beat us up and we had to find some money somewhere, but on looking at it we could defer the decision and probably make better decisions.  Is that what you’re really saying?


MS. ANDERSON:  We are saying we deferred a decision so yes, we'll have better data, we'll have a year’s experience under our belt assessing this.  And we will always make better decisions with better data, and they will get better every time, every year.  We want to continuously improve how we use this tool. 


MR. KAISER:  As to my concern that the capital addition seems to be declining from 80 million in ‘04, to 56 and now to $61, you say, Don’t freak out too much because that 32 million in ‘04 it was an unduly high number and it is distorting the trend.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  


MR. KAISER:  Basically.


MS. ANDERSON:  Absolutely.  A very major capital project for us in 2004 was the CIS, and that definitely -- you don't see that number in the future years.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Ms. Anderson.  Thank you, gentlemen.  


Anything more, Mr. Millar?  


MR. MILLAR:  Not from me, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Farrell?  


MR. FARRELL:  No, I have no re-examination.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Where do we go next?  


MR. MILLAR:  We're at 10 after 12, Mr. Chair.  Should we take our lunch break?  I see Mr. Poch here and I assume Mr. Gibbons is either here or will be here shortly.  We could deal with the line loss issues.  Hopefully, over lunch the Board can file its ROE -- 


MR. KAISER:  I take it that's just argument.  Mr. Poch is not going to need to examine --


MR. MILLAR:  No I believe -- why don't I let him speak.


MR. POCH:  I'm assuming Mr. Farrell wants to put a witness on the stand.


MR. FARRELL:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Oh, you do have a witness.


MR. FARRELL:  It’s part of the settlement, but it’s in dispute so we --


MR. KAISER:  You have a witness.


MR. FARRELL:  We have a witness.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  I misunderstood.  We'll adjourn for lunch.  We'll come back in an hour and we will hear the witness on line losses and proceed from there. 


You'll advise the parties on your position on the McShane matter?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:09 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:15 p.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

We lost Mr. Millar, did we?   

Mr. Farrell, any preliminary matters?

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. FARRELL:  Yes, the witnesses for the line loss panel will be Ms. Anderson and Mr. Bennett, so if I could ask you to excuse Mr. Grue and Mr. Marsh.

MR. KAISER:  Fine.  Thank you, gentlemen.  

MR. FARRELL:  Mr. Chairman, the one additional document that I filed last Friday I was saving until now, because now Mr. Gibbons and Mr. Poch are both here, and that was the document of distribution losses.  So I would like to have Ms. Anderson identify this, have it marked as an exhibit and have her explain it.

MR. KAISER:  Is this 1.9?
MR. FARRELL:  This would be K1.10.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.10:  DISTRIBUTION LOSSES DOCUMENT 

MR. KAISER:  1.10.  We'll distribute it.  We'll wait until Mr. Millar shows up before -- Mr. Gibbons, why don't you and Mr. Poch come and expropriate these seats up here while Mr. Millar is out of the room.  That way you'll be able to see the witnesses.  Just move next to the court reporter here.

The witnesses are sworn, aren't they? 

MR. FARRELL:  They are still sworn.

MR. KAISER:  So we don't have to worry about that.

Is there anyone from the OEB staff here?  

MR. FARRELL:  Mr. Bennett was here a minute ago.  Maybe he’s gone to fetch someone.

MR. KAISER:  Is Mr. Millar coming?

MR. HARMER:  Mr. Millar will be here momentarily.

MR. KAISER:  Why don't you come up here and we'll put the Staff back there.  Mr. Poch won’t mind if you look over his notes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I apologize for being late.

MR. KAISER:  All right, Mr. Farrell, please proceed.

MR. FARRELL:  Thank you.

HYDRO OTTAWA LIMITED – PANEL 2:

LYNNE ANDERSON; Previously Sworn.

WILLIAM BENNETT; Previously Sworn.

EXAMINATION BY MR. FARRELL:
MR. FARRELL:  Ms. Anderson, was Exhibit K1.10 prepared by you or under your direction or control?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, it was.
     MR. FARRELL:  And is the exhibit accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, it is.
     MR. FARRELL:  Could you please explain the purpose of the exhibit.
     MS. ANDERSON:  The purpose of the exhibit was to illustrate the losses that Hydro Ottawa has experienced over the past three years of historic data that we had between 2002 to 2004.  And it also, as a little note, shows a preliminary calculation in 2005.  So the purpose was to show the variability that we've seen in our loss factor over the past few years.
     MR. FARRELL:  And the sources of the data you've indicated for the manager’s summary, tab B of the application.
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  I guess I'll go into a little bit more detail there.  

Wholesale kilowatt-hours, that you see as the first line item, was referenced in our application, as I indicated, under tab B, page 99.  And wholesale kilowatt-hours are the kilowatt-hours that obviously we've purchased from all the sources that we have, so we have in the neighbourhood of 30 delivery points of -- with the IESO.  There's a dozen or so imbedded delivery points within Hydro One’s service territory, and then there are three merchant generators within our service territory as well, and so each of those contribute to the wholesale kilowatt-hours that we reflect in that total.
     The retail kilowatt-hours is made up of, really, two components.  The retail -– the first component would be the amounts that we have actually billed to customers in the period in question.  So let's assume, in this case, it's a year, so it's the amount of kilowatt-hours billed to customers.  But then there’s also an accrual component where we determined what energy the customer has consumed in that year that has not yet been billed.  For example, I'll use this year as an example, we’d be closing our financial books around this time but we won't finish billing for the energy for 2005 until sometime in the middle of March.  So that there is a large portion where they have consumed it, we have purchased it, but we haven’t yet billed it.  So we have to estimate the amount that we will bill to that customer.
     So I also talk about, that accrual has actually got two components.  It's made up of the amount that we estimate that we will be billing for the energy consumed, but it also is net of the accrual that we had in the previous period.  So it’s kind of a net result of the accrual in the previous year to the current year.  So just to give an idea of the complexities of that number.
     So the losses, then, are simply -– the line is just the total kilowatt-hours lost in that year, and then the percentage is as a percentage of purchases.  

I do note that this is across all customer classes.  When we actually develop loss factors that apply to customers, their split is to a loss factor for large users and then a loss factor for all others, so that often when we talk about the loss factor, it would look like a different number but that's because there is a lower loss factor applied to large users.
     So I guess in illustrating this, what we were pointing out is, if we look at the year-over-year change in kilowatt-hours between 2003 and 2004, and you can see that our loss factor dropped between 3.5 percent down to 2.4 percent in 2004, the difference being about 84 or 85 million kilowatt-hours between the two years, so when we looked at that and said, Well, the cost of power in 2005, when you take into account all elements of that cost of power, including the commodity, transmission, wholesale market charges, was in the neighbourhood of about 7.5 cents.  So if you look at 7.5 cents applied to 85 million kilowatt-hours, you’re certainly in excess of $6 million, that difference, that year-over-year change.

And to put that into perspective, I guess our net income in 2004 was 16.6 million.  So 6 million is a very large percentage when you are looking at a variability of this nature.
     So, obviously, when we get this kind of variability, we would not simply just leave it at that.  We do ask questions:  Why did this happen?  And it's not always known.  I guess that’s the point we're making.  There’s a large complexity here.  It’s not always clear what that is. 

But there are two elements that we were able to realize for 2004.  One was it was an extremely mild summer.  The weather in that summer was very low, and, as you know, that would contribute to lower losses in that year, but not to the extent probably that we're seeing here.  So when we did a further examination, we realized that, by the time we get to the end of 2004, we've now obviously finished all the billing for 2003.  So we're able to go back and say, Well, let's look at the estimate we had for 2003 and compare it to what we actually billed.  And in that comparison, it did become apparent our estimate of the amount to accrue for 2003 was a low for forecast.  


So that those sales now contribute into what appears to be lower losses into 2004, really had nothing to do with 2004 in and of itself.  It was just an estimate that was accrued at 2003.  


So I just want to be clear.  That was not an error, it wasn't a mistake at all in this accrual.  It was an estimate.  And even then once we've billed the information, it is still an estimate as to what portion of it really does contribute to 2003 and what portion to 2004, because we don't read meters on December 31st for the vast majority our customers.  


So we take their bill that crosses December and January, and we will prorate it into the appropriate month based on the number of days in that month.  So changing weather between December and January can also contribute to the estimation being slightly low in that case.


So we wanted to point that out, because those are what we would see as two major factors here, one weather beyond our control, and two, we did our very best to estimate that.  But as a result, this did come out lower, but it was strictly the amount that we accrued in that period.  


So we wanted to illustrate that in this exhibit. 


MR. FARRELL:  Thank you, Ms. Anderson.  The witnesses are available for cross-examination Mr. Chair.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


Mr. Gibbons?  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GIBBONS:


MR. GIBBONS:  Thank you, Mr. Kaiser.  


Mr. Kaiser, once again we have a document book.  It's titled “Pollution Probe document book re: distribution line losses,” and we passed it out to, I believe, everyone.  And if I could have an exhibit number please.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, K1.11. 

EXHIBIT NO. K1.11:  POLLUTION PROBE DOCUMENT BOOK RE: DISTRIBUTION LINE LOSSES.


MR. GIBBONS:  Thank you.  


Ms. Anderson, if I could turn you to this exhibit book, and if you look on the first page after the cover page, you see that we have an excerpt from the Ontario Energy Board annual report.  And then if you turn to the next page, which we marked as page 2, there are two light bulbs on that page, and the light bulb on the left-hand side gives a break out of Ontario's electricity generation in 2002.  


And if you look below that light bulb, we see that total end use and losses in 2002 were 555.5 petaJoules.  So that equals Ontario’s total electricity generation in 2002, and it's broken out by the amount that is actually consumed by customers and how much is lost in the transmission distribution system.  Do you agree?  


MS. ANDERSON:  For the purpose of this discussion, we'll -- I'm not familiar with that report, but definitely for the purpose of this discussion well accept that.


MR. GIBBONS:  And you've seen this document before today?


MS. ANDERSON:  I have.


MR. GIBBONS:  And if you look at the light bulb on the right-hand side, it gives a break out of Ontario’s electricity consumption by customer group for 2002.  And at the bottom, below the light bulb, we learn that the total electricity consumption of customers was 514.1 petaJoules. 


So if we subtract that number from the 555.5 petaJoules, we can calculate what the losses were in 2002 in the transmission and distribution system; correct?


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  It's not exactly clear to me what the starting point is of the calculation, the end point being obviously the end user.  So I'm not clear if there was any portion of the generation involved, but for purpose of this discussion, I’m certainly prepared to accept that it's transmission distribution.


MR. GIBBONS:   Okay.  Now, if you can turn to page 3, where I've done these calculations, and the calculation I just referred you to, calculated line losses being 41.4 petaJoules.  And my math looks okay to you?


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.


MR. GIBBONS:  And if you look at column C, it basically gives line losses as a percentage of Ontario’s total electricity generation in 2002, and that number is 7.5 percent.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.


MR. GIBBONS:  That math sounds reasonable to you?


MS. ANDERSON:  The math is reasonable.


MR. GIBBONS:  Thank you.  


Then, if you can turn to the next page, which is page 4, we have excerpt here from the Board's RP-2004-0188 report.  


MS. ANDERSON:  Mm-hmm.


MR. GIBBONS:  And if we can flip over the page 5, which talks about the distribution line loss issue.  And if we look at the paragraph at the bottom, under the heading, “distribution line losses.”  I’m just going to read it to you.  

“The draft handbook contains two alternative rate-making options with respect to distribution line
losses as they relate to CDM.  Alternative one is the status quo, where the line losses are passed through
and the distributors have no financial incentive to reduce line losses.  Under alternative two, any variance between a distributor’s actual electricity purchases and sales is no longer a pass-through item.
As a consequence, if alternative two is adopted, distributors will have a direct financial incentive to reduce line losses.”  


Do you see that? 


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.


MR. GIBBONS:  And you understand what the Board is saying there?


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.


MR. GIBBONS:  Thank you.


If you can turn to page 6, and I want to refer to a number of sentences in the Board’s conclusion section.  And if we look at the first paragraph under “conclusions,” and the first line, it says, the Board says:


“Reducing line losses is an opportunity for 


conservation in this province.” 


 Do you see that?  


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.


MR. GIBBONS:  And then if we go to the second paragraph and look at the last two lines, it says: 

“However, the Board does expect a distributor to take action where losses can be reduced.  It is, therefore, appropriate for distributors to have an incentive to do so.”  


Do you see that?


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.


MR. GIBBONS:  Now, do you agree that it is appropriate for LDCs to have an incentive, a financial incentive to reduce line losses?


MS. ANDERSON:  I don't agree that having some kind incentive is appropriate.  The question at mind is, is there a known way of doing that that actually results in the benefits that you're seeking to achieve.  And for instance, if you're looking at a distributor in isolation, and obviously I've use Hydro Ottawa since that's the one I'm familiar with.  If we were provided some financial incentive, as I mentioned earlier we have a quite a variety of supply points so our distribution area; quite a number, dozens of them.  And what we're not clear on is if Hydro Ottawa undertook measures to reduce its line losses, what would be the impact to, for instance, Hydro One as the transmitter or host distributor?  


So if we could transfer loads, switch it around and lower our own losses what we don't know, and I think in any methodology being proposed, it's not clear whether or not there is -- we've looked at what the potential impact is to our supplier, both as a transmitter and host distributor.  


Because any incentives that look at us in isolation are just looking at us in isolation, they are not taking into account whether or not there could be contrary impacts to someone else. 


MR. GIBBONS:  Ms. Anderson, you gave me an answer, but it’s not quite the one I was looking for.  My question was, I think, much simpler than I think you thought it was.  I'm just asking a very simple question on a matter of principal.  Do you believe a distributor like Hydro Ottawa should have a financial incentive to reduce line losses?  We can later get into the discussion about how you would actually do it, if it is appropriate.  It is a very simple question, a philosophical question:  Should you have a financial incentive to reduce line losses?


MS. ANDERSON:  I would say that we actually haven't needed a financial incentive in order to make many measures already in place to reduce our line losses.  There are a number things we have already done, and that's evidenced by the fact that our loss factor is quite low.  So that obviously, we didn't need the financial incentive in order to undertake those things.


MR. GIBBONS:  So is it your position that Hydro One [sic] should not have a direct financial incentive to reduce line losses -- Hydro Ottawa, sorry?


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  We are prepared to accept that, yes, having a financial incentive is appropriate.  What the issue is, is that there is no mechanism for doing that in a way that is appropriate and fair at the moment.


MR. GIBBONS:  So in principle, you're in favour of it.


MS. ANDERSON:  If it can be done.


MR. GIBBONS:  Right, okay.  


If we can continue on, on page 6, then, and look at the third paragraph, and the first sentence there.  And it says:

“The Board concludes, however, that it is not feasible to introduce a financial incentive in 2006 rates related to distribution line loss reduction.”  


Do you see that?  


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, and we agree with the Board.


MR. GIBBONS:  And you agree with that?


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.


MR. GIBBONS:  Okay.  So now I’m going to ask you to go to page 8, and we'll explore this issue of whether or not it is feasible for an electric utility to have a direct financial incentive to reduce line losses in 2006.  And on page 8 of the Handbook, we've got Hydro One’s response to a Pollution Probe interrogatory.  And this is in Hydro One’s 2006 rate case.  And if you look at our question, we asked Hydro One the following:

“Will variations in Hydro One’s distribution network line-loss costs due to variations between its forecast and actual kilowatt-hour line losses be a pass-through item for Hydro One in fiscal 2006?”  

And their response is as follows.  

“No, there are no variances between Hydro One’s distribution forecast and actual kilowatt-hour line losses since Hydro One uses the accrual method to record and report its financial data.”

Do you see that?
     MS. ANDERSON:  I see it, yes.
     MR. GIBBONS:  Okay.  And then if I could ask you to turn to page 9 of our handbook.  This is an interrogatory response from Hydro One, again in the 2006 rate case, and this is a response to an interrogatory from Energy Probe.  If we look at section A of Energy Probe's interrogatory, it says:

“Please explain why Hydro One has not traditionally handled gains and losses for distribution line losses due to variances between planed and actual as a pass-through to ratepayers.” 

That's the question.  And the response, the first paragraph of Hydro One’s response is as follows:  

“Like many other LDCs, Hydro One uses the accrual method to record and report its financial results and assumes that actual losses are the same as the OEB-approved distribution losses.  Therefore, no variation exists between approved and actual losses, and consequently there is no pass-through to customers.”

Now, to summarize, it's Hydro One’s evidence, as I understand it, that they will have a direct financial incentive in 2006 to reduce line losses.  And given that, given their responses, wouldn't you agree with me that it would be possible to implement a ratemaking mechanism that would give Hydro Ottawa a direct financial incentive to reduce line losses in 2006?
     MS. ANDERSON:  I cannot adopt Hydro One’s approach.
     MR. GIBBONS:  Why not?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Well, I will show you the second paragraph in that answer, which reads:

“Hydro One does not determine the actual distribution losses because of the complexity of its distribution system and because of customer metering and billing arrangements.” 

So I can absolutely understand, Hydro One is six times our size, has multiple rate schedules, far more complex than we have, so they actually don't determine what their losses are and they make the assumption that the loss factor for the year is the same as the regulated or approved amount.  In other words, they assume that their purchases are equal to their sales.  

Hydro Ottawa, on the other hand, we have a report that accrues an amount based on a query of every customer in our system.  So the query actually probes all 280,000 customers and estimates what the losses are based on that accrual.

So because I have better information on which to base my accrual, I cannot record my financials based on assumption that doesn't use the best information available.  That would not be appropriate for generally accepted accounting principles.
     MR. GIBBONS:  We're not asking you to use poor quality information on your financial statements.  Basically what we're asking for, to create this direct financial incentive, is that you no longer have a variance account to pass-through the variations between your actual and your forecast kilowatt-hour line losses.  All we're asking for is for you not to have another variance account, and that's just a regulatory thing before the OEB.  

So, surely you could do that.  I know you don't want to do it because you believe it implies more risk for your company.  But you could do it if you wanted to, if you wanted to create that financial incentive for you, could you not?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Well, I cannot follow Hydro One’s approach.  I'm not aware of other approaches and that's part of the issue.  I cannot follow the one that is done by someone else, and we're not aware of another approach, given the complexities.  

The other point I wanted to point out there is that we often look at the commodity only, but the cost of power, of course, is made up of a number of different charges.  

For instance, I'll cite the wholesale market charge.  The wholesale market charge is a charge we incur from the IESO for ancillary services - uplifts is a term they use – which includes the cost of imported power.  As of April, the government unfroze what we pay to the IESO for wholesale market charges.  From December 2002 until April of last year, we paid the exact same amount that we charged our customers.  So, for the most part, it was a pass-through.  It no longer is a pass-through; therefore, in 2005, we paid approximately $5 million to the IESO for wholesale market services above and beyond what we were permitted to charge our customers.  Obviously that went into a variance account.  

The question at hand here is, Okay, now, how would I now subdivide that variance account into that portion that related to changes in losses and that portion that was actually the fact that there were two different rates in place at the time.

So there are complexities beyond just the pure commodity.  There are other elements that we would have to take into account.  Obviously, we shouldn't be expected to pay a lot more for the power that we pass on to customers in the tune of this -- as an example, this wholesale market charge.  So, again, it's what method would be used to subdivide that.

MR. GIBBONS:  Well, Ms. Anderson, I mean, we're not here now to discuss your problems with the IESO and their charges.  We're just focused on line losses, distribution line losses, and whether or not you should have a financial incentive –- a direct financial incentive to reduce those distribution line losses.  

In response to my question about could you create such a financial incentive mechanism for you in 2006, you said you couldn't do the Hydro One approach - and I understand that - but then you said you’re not aware of any other way of doing it.  But I had just, I thought, in my question outlined to you another way of doing it.  It's just, don't have a variance account for the variance between your 2006 actual and forecasted distribution line losses.  Just don't have that variance account.  So don't pass that amount of money, either positive or negative, on to your customers.

It seems to me it’s a very simple thing.  It could be done if you wanted to.  I understand why you don't want to do it.  But can you just agree with me that you could do it, that there is a way to do it?
     MS. ANDERSON:  I'm not aware of any way to do it.  

I will add that there is not one variance account.  There are five cost-of-power variance accounts, of which one, the RSVA power, in theory, is where our revenues and purchases would be equal; but for the others, including transmission variances and wholesale market, we have a different rate that is charged to the customer than we pay on the wholesale front.  And the differences go into variance accounts for disposition later, and that disposition is either -- as a regulatory asset in the past, has either been paid back to the customer or collecting more.  It goes both directions.

So it's not as simple as one simple variance account.  There are five of them for cost of power.
     MR. GIBBONS:  Ms. Anderson, I don’t dispute there are five variance accounts.  You maybe have more variance accounts for other items, too.  I'm just focusing on one part of the variance account with respect to distribution line losses.  And I'm suggesting that that variance which captures the difference between actual and forecasted distribution line losses, that portion of the variance account should no longer exist; it should be eliminated so you can't pass those costs -– those variations on to your customers.  And the reason why we’re proposing that is to give you a direct financial incentive to reduce line losses.  And that's a way of doing it.  I think it's logical and I just want to ask you:  Do you agree with me you could do that?   Not that you want to do that but you could.  It’s a simple question and I've asked it about five times and I'm not going to ask it again.  So this is your last chance to answer a very simple question and make me happy.

I'm not a lawyer.  I'm trying to prove to Murray Klippenstein, who may be listening to this for us, that I’m actually good at my job.

MS. ANDERSON:  I'm not aware of how to do it in such a way that takes into account the fact that there are all five variance accounts, all of which have an element of loss factors in them.
     MR. GIBBONS:  Thank you, Ms. Anderson.  Those are my questions.

MR. FARRELL:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. KAISER:  Ms. Anderson, let's suppose you didn’t have a variance account for whatever reason, as Mr. Gibbons suggests.  What effect would that have on your behaviour?  Would you manage your business any differently?

MS. ANDERSON:  Well, obviously, there would be a significant risk to us.  Particularly, as I've pointed out, there are these other variances which -- what we charge customers is a regulated rate and what we pay to the IESO is a variable market rate.

MR. KAISER:  No, no, but he's just talking about the variance that relates between forecasted and actual. 
     MR. GIBBONS:  Right.


MR. KAISER:  Forget about the other variances.  And let’s suppose the chairman issued a bulletin and this variance account was removed or eliminated, as Mr. Gibbons said, whether we like it or not.  Maybe he's nuts, it doesn’t matter, assume it happened.   Could you think of anything you could do to change your behaviour with respect to this aspect of your business?  


MS. ANDERSON:  There certainly are things that we would look at doing.  For instance, in our CDM plans, we have piloted a number of initiatives to help us look at ways of reducing the loss factor.  But I will point out those are still pilots, we haven't reviewed the results of them to see about implementing these sorts of technologies and strategies over a larger scale.  Those are certainly things that we would consider.  


But I think that really a key point here is that if we are incented in isolation of our supplier on how to do loss factors, then there are ways that configuring our system by switching loads from different delivery pointers, where perhaps losses could be minimized, there are incremental operating and maintenance costs that we would incur in doing that because we would be constantly monitoring, and switching loads, and transferring loads to different locations.  


And we don't know what the impact would be to the losses of Hydro One in that perspective.  Because if we shift more load onto an imbedded delivery point that is at a lower voltage, one would suspect that would result in a higher loss to Hydro One in supplying us that energy.  We don't know, because we haven't studied it in great detail, and that is what we would like to do.


MR. KAISER:  These losses on K1.10, the losses are going down as a percentage.  Is that just a fluke or have you done something deliberately to reduce the losses?


MS. ANDERSON:  We did not do anything for that to happen.  Those were as the result, predominantly, of our estimate for the unbilled accrual in ‘03 and, we suspect, weather.  As you can see, our estimate for 2005 is a preliminary number, but we are back up to 3.3 percent; albeit these still are relatively low loss factors in the industry.


MR. KAISER:  And you went back to 3.3 because you thought 2.4 was really just an estimation error?  


MS. ANDERSON:  I wouldn't call it an error.  It was as the result of estimation, yes, and it's back to a more trend at 3.3, yes.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  


Mr. Poch, do you have some questions?


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. POCH:


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  


Ms. Anderson, is it your practice for 2006 rates -- does the 3.3 estimate, is that imbedded in rates or does everything flush through the RSVA and its sister accounts?


MS. ANDERSON:  What goes into the variance account is the difference between the revenue from customers, including the accrual, and the amount that we have paid for that cost of power.


MR. POCH:  So you’ve estimated 3.3, but it in fact does not serve any purpose, that explanation, for rate setting?


MS. ANDERSON:  No, for rate setting it is a three-year average of 2002, 2003 and 2004. 


MR. POCH:  Okay.  So, yes, it does serve a purpose, then; am I correct?  For rate-setting purposes you take the three-year average of losses, you build that into rates, and then these variance account would pick up any difference between what's in rates.


MS. ANDERSON:  Correct.


MR. POCH:  Okay.


So when you gave that number earlier of this $6 million variance, that’s not the variance the utility would actually see.  You would only experience in your net income a difference between whatever was your three-year rolling average and what was experienced, maybe more or less than that number?


MS. ANDERSON:  True.  What we were looking at is the fact that our three-year rolling average, originally our loss factor before this application was 3.64, our revised application it's at 3.44 for the majority of customers.  So the 2003 is fairly close to that average.  What we were looking at is the fact that ‘04 was a significant drop.


MR. POCH:  So the real anomaly here is 2004.  And looking at 2003 and 2002 and the numbers you just gave us, the variance tends to be smaller in a typical year, in a more typical year.


MS. ANDERSON:  Smaller in which?


MR. POCH:  The variance between the loss factor built into rates and the loss factor you actually measure, including your accrual.


MS. ANDERSON:  Typically. 


MR. POCH:  It is typically much smaller than that variance you happen to have in 2004, and I think you’ve given us the two reasons for that.


MS. ANDERSON:  But those elements of estimation still remain today.


MR. POCH:  Right.  And the two reasons for that big variance in 2004 you said were, you surmised were the weather, then the fact that the accrual you recorded at the end of 2003 turned out to be wrong.  And so that, in effect reduced -- it reduced the apparent losses, perhaps the best way to put it, in 2004.  Have I understood that correctly?


MS. ANDERSON:  I would clarify that our accrual wasn’t wrong, it was out best estimate that we had at the time.  An estimate, of course, the actuals are never equal to the estimate.


MR. POCH:  In fact, it's logical, is it not, that the difference between the amount you accrued and what turned out to be the kilowatt-hours that flowed in that period are going to be off for the same reason that 2004 was a lower sales period, that is, the weather.


MS. ANDERSON:  Could you rephrase that?


MR. POCH:  Your accrual was based on past experience, it's your best estimate.


MS. ANDERSON:  Partially.


MR. POCH:  And the big -- your large customers, they are all actually metered.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.


MR. BENNETT:  You know what you've sold them in the stub -- there is no stub period you have to worry about accruing.  You’ve got the actuals.  And your wholesale meters are your wholesale meters, you've got them every 20 minutes, I imagine, or whatever the time interval is.


MS. ANDERSON:  I think they are hourly.


MR. POCH:  Hourly.  So the real uncertainty that you have to make an estimate of for that purposes of that accrual is all of the residential and general service customers who are on energy meters, and you read them every month or every two months, or what have you.


MS. ANDERSON:  Every two months.


MR. BENNETT:  They are not all read on the same day.  


And the biggest variation amongst those customers is weather, I assume.  The biggest problem for you as forecaster is weather, the degree days that are actually experienced in that 15-day period, or whatever it is on average.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, changing weather would certainly have a significant impact.


MR. POCH:  All right.  So if we were to apply your weather correction model to a formula for a loss incentive, you could significantly -- the likelihood is, I think you would agree with me, that the logical outcome is you would significantly reduce the volatility or the variance that you would have to swallow, one way or the other, but not all of it.  You would still be at risk for a general increase in losses or a general reduction losses you've been able to achieve.  Would that be fair?


MS. ANDERSON:  Our current model that we use for assessing the unbilled revenue or unbilled statistics actually does query every customer in our system, 280,000 customers, and looks at, first of all, have we already billed the customer, and if so we just simply prorate by the number of days.  


It looks to see whether we have a meter read and if so, then it attempts to calculate the bill.  If it doesn't have a meter read then it will look at a previous season, so that we are trying to get seasonal variations.  If the customer wasn't with us a previous season, it will look at class averages.  


So it has, I will say, a very complex program.  It does have adjustments for weather that are permitted in it, and we have made use of those adjustments for weather. 


What I will say is that this is -- I completely understand Hydro One's position on this, as far as the complexities.  We're much smaller than they are, and this report that we run takes in the neighbourhood of anywhere from 12 to 20 hours to run as it is with weather adjustments that we do by class.  Now, of course, to get added complexities in order to truly know what to do with weather, you really have to almost get down to the customer level, because that customer -- because there's billing on every day, the weather adjustment factor would have to be different for each day of billing that you do.  It’s highly complex.  


The other point I would make is that there isn't really always a direct correlation between the degree day and the sales that we see.  We do find, in looking at history, and we don't have a lost it yet, we're building up that historical database, is that sometimes the timing of when that weather shifts can have an impact on the sales.  


So that if early in the season you get a hot spell, you can have a big jump up in energy, or if that heating spell has been over a duration -- so not only do you have to look at what these degree days are, but how long those degree days have extended to truly come up with a way of weather correcting.  


So this is a very long answer.  We’re saying it's very complicated, there’s not a direct correlation.  And we already do try to do the best we can with weather.

MR. POCH:  If I can paraphrase it:  You made an attempt to that already.  Perhaps you could, with greater intensity of data manipulation, you could do a little better.  But you're not confident that you can nail it.
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.
     MR. POCH:  Fair enough.  

Now, we had a long discussion with Toronto Hydro’s witnesses last week about this and, for the benefit of this panel, we won't repeat it.  Maybe I can jump to the bottom line.  

To the extent that there is residual volatility, after you’ve made your best effort of the type you've just spoken of, over a period of years, I take it that if we went to a model where the utility absorbed this risk, over the period of years you would be made whole and customers would be made whole, but I take it you're concern is that the volatility would be difficult for you to manage.
     MS. ANDERSON:  I guess it's difficult to tell a shareholder why there’s a significant hit to a bottom line in one year, but don't worry, you'll get it back in a future year.  That's obviously a difficult thing to say.  When you know that these are often things that are smoothed over time, should you really be taking an upside, as the potential we could have had in our example, or even a downside for things you didn't actually influence.
     MR. POCH:  The beginning of your answer was a yes nod, can we record that for the record, with the caveats you added.

Before -- were you with the utility before restructuring or were they a utility before restructuring?
     MS. ANDERSON:  I was with Nepean Hydro before.
     MR. POCH:  And is my understanding correct, that before restructuring, the utilities were at risk for this?
     MS. ANDERSON:  I would say that we were not -- yes, we took the purchases and the sales, but of course we could adjust rates every year based on our rate-filing each year, so that there was a very different regulatory environment.  We also weren't distributors.  We had a different role as municipal utilities.  The structure of the marketplace had not been fully unbundled.
     MR. POCH:  Sure.  But my narrow question is:  You, the different entity that you were at the time, a municipal electric utility, were at risk for this variance.
     MS. ANDERSON:  With a much –- with a regulatory environment that allowed us to file for revised rates rather than just the structure that we do now on a cost of service.
     MR. POCH:  Sure.  And if we -- would it be fair to say that one way you could reduce risk would be to have some annual adjustment that allows you to adjust rates annually based on loss factor experience?  Is that, in essence, what you are referring to?  That in the old regime, you could look at your situation and every year you had the opportunity to state a case to the regulatory authority - Ontario Hydro as it was then - to take that into account into setting next years rate?  Is that the point you are making when you say it was a different regulatory environment?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.  Obviously, there were far more differences than simply the treatment of loss factors.
     MR. POCH:  Sure.  Okay.  I'm correct, am I, that there's nobody in your utility that has performance paid tied to loss factor improvement?  And there's no other incentive for the utility to seek to reduce losses at this point?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Well, I would say the incentive is that obviously we take our CDM programs very seriously, and in undertaking the pilots that we have, obviously we want to achieve the best results possible for the money that we're spending.  So there is the incentive there.

There are -- we obviously believe in conservation.  We have often taken these considerations into account in our design standards.  We have long looked at efficiency in developing our design standards, such as low-loss transformers.  They have been our design standard for Hydro Ottawa since we created the design standards.  

Obviously, we have done these things in the absence of the financial incentive because we felt those were the right things to do.
     MR. POCH:  You're aware that losses change with the square of the current --
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.
     MR. POCH:  -- that your components are carrying?  So that you experience a disproportionate amount of your losses at times of system peak; correct?
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.
     MR. POCH:  So would you agree that if there was an incentive for you to reduce losses, it would be a powerful incentive for the utility to engage in peak reduction measures; not just measures that are intended to reduce losses but CDM DSM measures generally.

MS. ANDERSON:  Demand management.
     MR. POCH:  Demand management, load-shifting, conservation, anything at peak.
     MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, they are beneficial.
     MR. POCH:  They’re all beneficial.  And that a loss reduction incentive would provide you with a reward for engaging in such efforts to the extent those efforts affected peak load.
     MS. ANDERSON:  I'm not sure that the incentives and the counter-incentives are necessarily driving that action clearly, because there are so many thing that's affect that distribution loss factor.  So I would say that the things that we can control can be smaller than the things that really are with -– are outside of our control.  Therefore, how can we –- if, after the fact, our loss factor was higher and it really is a result of something beyond our control, then how is that rewarding us to do something?
     MR. POCH:  Well, let me just put it to you this way:  If you are at risk for losses, you would have an incentive to both engage in line-loss efforts and also an increased incentive to engage in conservation and load management at times of peak.  Whether or not your loss factor is going up and down because of other factors beyond your control, you would still have that incentive, would you not?
     MS. ANDERSON:  We would certainly be looking at the issue very closely.
     MR. POCH:  Sure.  And I think we’ve already talked at length, and I think we can agree, that ideally, then, a loss incentive mechanism would be one which, to the extent reasonably achievable, shields you from these other factors that are beyond your control and focuses your attention on the ones you can affect; correct?
     MS. ANDERSON:  That's what we're looking for and that's what we have yet to determine how to do.
     MR. POCH:  Can we agree, then, that it may not be possible to have to perfect loss incentive that cuts that fine -- makes that fine a distinction; that it may be that you are going to remain at risk in any loss factor incentive the Board ultimately lands on for matters that are, strictly speaking, beyond your control in any given year; correct?  Likely that's going to be the case.
     MS. ANDERSON:  It would be the case that -- could 

you -–

MR. POCH:  In any loss factor mechanism that anybody is likely to come up with, you are going to be likely left with some exposure to factors beyond your control.  It might be greater; it might be lesser.  And we’d obviously prefer lesser.  But the reality is, anybody who tries to be an architect of one of these incentives is not going to get it perfect, because it's just too complicated to get it perfect.
     MS. ANDERSON:  Absolutely too complicated to get it perfect, but that’s why we actually welcome the fact that the Board was going to study this issue.  As indicated in the rate handbook, the Board would be studying it.  We would like to work with the Board on that activity, as I'm sure would the intervenors and other LDCs.  

I do point out that, as our loss factor is already fairly low, that may have to be taken into consideration.  We shouldn't be penalizing those that have already brought their loss factor to a low level, when those that may not have might be able to get greater benefits by doing the things we've already done.
     MR. POCH:  All right.  And I think you've already agreed - correct me if I'm wrong – that to the extent that we don't design a perfect incentive and the utility is exposed to some volatility that's not manageable by the utility, there's not an unfairness created over the long haul for the utility or the customers, but your concern, then, is the volatility in any given year and how you manage that in terms of your financial outcomes.
     MS. ANDERSON:  Our concern is definitely the volatility.

MR. POCH:  Thank you very much.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Was there any re-examination by Mr. Farrell?

MR. FARRELL:  No, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess, Mr. Chair, the only issue we have left, unless I’m mistaken, is the ROE, the ROE matter.
    MR. KAISER:  Yes.
    MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I can give our position on the McShane letter.  It’s handwritten.  I don't paper copies to hand out.  Perhaps I could just read my points onto the record.  

MR. KAISER:  Before you do that, were there any other parties that wanted to question these witnesses?
    MR. MILLAR:  That's a good point.  I don't believe there are, Mr. Chair, and we don't have any questions from Board Staff either. 

MR. KAISER:  I saw Mr. Adams scoot into the hall.  I didn't know whether there was somebody waiting out there to cross-examine.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Adams, was there anyone else intending on –-

MR. ADAMS:  No.  Mr. Dingwall had asked me to notify him, and I didn’t realize it was coming up quickly.

MR. KAISER:  Did you have any questions, Mr. Dingwall, of this panel?

MR. DINGWALL:  No, I did not, sir.  CME was a party to the settlement, and we’re not changing that position.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Please proceed, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. FARRELL:  May I just ask you to excuse the witnesses.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, thank you, Ms. Anderson, Mr. Bennett. 


MR. POCH:  I'll be excusing myself too, as I'm not involved in this issue.  I will be looking forward to hearing from Board Staff on what the arrangements for ROE are.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  


I take it, Mr. Millar, you are not taking Mr. Farrell up on his offer to examine Ms. McShane?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chairman, from my point of view I don't think it's necessary.  If the Panel had questions or if Mr. Farrell had issues to raise -- again, I don't think we have any fundamental dispute with Ms. McShane's math or anything of that order.  I don't know that I have anything to ask her.


SUBMISSIONS RE McSHANE LETTER MADE BY MR. MILLAR:


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, Mr. Chair.  You asked yesterday, actually, in the course of the Toronto Hydro proceeding, that Board Staff put on the record its position on the McShane letter that was entered as an undertaking response, J3.1 in the Toronto Hydro matter.  I'm going to do that for you today, although there is obviously the Ottawa Hydro proceeding, but the same letter is now an exhibit before us so I think our remarks hold for both proceedings. 


With regard to historic test year filers, if you'll let me take a step backwards, I think that the Handbook is clear that the maximum allowed ROE is 9 percent.  On page 31 of the Handbook you see that number is broken down as follows:  It was the average of the 3- and 12-month consensus forecasts outlook for 10-year Government of Canada bond rates, and that is 4.75 percent; the second line item is the average difference during April, 2005 between 10- and 30-year Government of Canada bond yields, and that figure is .45 percent; and then finally there is the equity risk premium, which is 3.8 percent.


Now, the Board described its process for arriving at this figure starting on page 30 of the Handbook, and I'll read it onto the record.  This is starting at the final paragraph on page 30 and continuing on to page 31.  It reads:



“The Board has approved the use of a mechanistic 

update consistent with the methodology used by Dr. Cannon in his 1998 paper, ‘A discussion paper on the determination of return on equity and return on rate base for electricity distribution utilities’--”  


That's all in quotes.  

“-- for both maximum allowed return on equity and debt rates for 2006 rate
applications. 



“The debt rate and the maximum allowed return on 

equity are updated for 2006 to reflect the forecast for the long-run, 30-years Government of Canada bond yield.  The equity risk premium the held at 3.8 percent, (380 basis points).”  


It is Board Staff’s view that the Handbook is clear that it was setting the equity risk premium for historical test year filers at 3.8 percent.  The Board chose to only update the forecast for the bond rates, not for the equity risk premium.  It is therefore Board Staff's position that for historic test year filers the 9 percent should stand.


Ottawa Hydro, however, is a future test year filer, as are Toronto Hydro and Hydro One.  Last week the Board heard a motion in the Toronto Hydro proceeding where Toronto Hydro sought a ruling from the Board on the issue of to what extent the Handbook applies to forward test year filers. 


The Board found that the Handbook had persuasive value for forward test year filers, but it was not necessarily determinative.  And, of course, I'm paraphrasing, Mr. Chair.  


Essentially, it was the Board's finding that the Handbook serves as a default position, the parties are free to argue that it should not apply for whatever reason to any particular item.


Specifically, with respect to the ROE issue, for example, the 9 percent found in the Handbook is the default position.  Parties are free to argue that a different value should apply.  For example, that the economic indicators should be updated for forward test year filers.  


Straying from the Handbook, however, should work as a two-way street.  If intervenors and Board staff can argue that a mechanistic update should be conducted, then the applicant should be free to make arguments regarding the form of that mechanistic update.  


In this instance, I would presume that the applicants prefer an ROE figure of 9 percent, as taken from the Handbook.  However, if Board Staff or the intervenors argue in favour of an update of the economic indicators, the applicant should be permitted to make arguments on what that update will entail.  


In the final analysis, of course, it will be up to the Board to decide first, if the 9 percent is appropriate, and if it is not, then what form the mechanistic update should entail.


So I guess the long and the short of it is, if we are looking at an update, Board Staff doesn't have any objection to the applicants arguing that the number Ms. McShane came to is the right one.  That will be for the Board to decide in the end.  But we are not saying that they -- I think we'll probably have a different conclusion, from Board Staff's point of view, but if they wish to argue this then by all means we think that's perfectly proper.


There is a small procedural wrinkle in this, and that is that on the issues list the ROE issue was limited to an update of the economic indicators.  It does not include an adjustment to the equity risk premium.  Now, all this came about before the McShane letter came to our attention.  And again, paraphrase what she is saying, and I won't pretend to speak for her, but as I understand her argument it is that if you use the Cannon methodology, the equity risk premium and the bond forecasts are tied together.  If you switch one, you have to switch the other.  Now, when we set the issues list, I don't think that the parties were considering that.


So the applicant may wish to seek relief from the Board with regard to the scope of that issue for the issues list, because they might have to do that if they wanted to argue that the equity risk premium should be changed.  Of course, I'm only speaking on behalf of Board Staff.  The intervenors may take a different view of that or they may object to a change in the scope of the issues list. 


MR. KAISER:  Let me stop you there.  Let's suppose the intervenors, or for that matter the applicants, take the McShane position that if you are going to change one you need to change the other, that is to say, you have to deal with the equity risk premium.  


MR. MILLAR:  Right.


MR. KAISER:  You are not objecting to their making that argument?


MR. MILLAR:  If they want to make that argue, that’s fine.


MR. KAISER:  You’re not relying on the fact that that wasn't addressed in the issues list.


MR. MILLAR:  No, Board Staff won't be -- again, we realize this is a somewhat unique situation.


MR. KAISER:  I just want to get your position. 


MR. MILLAR:  If they –-


MR. KAISER:  You won’t object if they are calling evidence or arguing that, if they choose to argue that.


MR. MILLAR:  If they choose to arguer that, we won't object. 


MR. KAISER:  All right. 


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, that's essentially our position on this issue.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Farrell?  


MR. FARRELL:  I would prefer to give this a few moments thought and consult with my client.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't we take a break.  Mr. Rodger, you may have some comments as well.  If you would like to respond, would you like a few minutes to think about it?


MR. RODGER:  I would like to call my client as well.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Let's take --


MR. FARRELL:  I was going to say, Mr. Chair, I understand that a portion of an exhibit in the Toronto Hydro hearing that was used by Board Staff as an aid to today’s cross-examination contains two tables, but not a graph that -- Mr. Benum kindly forwarded to me on Friday a couple pages that were in that exhibit.  And I was wondering, just to taking this under consideration, whether we could have that document marked as an exhibit on this record.


MR. KAISER:  Good idea.  Do you have a copy, Mr. Millar?  Mr. Farrell has his.  Always prepared with these matters.


MR. MILLAR:  I think we are at K1.12.

EXHIBIT NO K1.12: MECHANISTIC APPROACH TO UPDATE COST OF CAPITAL PERAMETERS


MR. KAISER:  I think it was, yes.  I forget what number it was in Toronto, but it doesn’t matter I guess.


MR. MILLAR:  We'll find it. 


MR. KAISER:  I think Mr. Farrell has copies.


MR. FARRELL:  Maybe I should just distribute this, and I have a question for composed for Board Staff.  I understand that this was a copy that has the second page, which is a graph, that is not part of the Toronto Hydro exhibit. 


MR. KAISER:  I don't remember the graph.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I wish to stress again, our comments are of course only on behalf of Board Staff.  I don't know if the intervenors may have some comments on that as well.  I haven't spoken about this with them.  


MR. KAISER:  We'll here from them after the break.


Mr. Millar, help me out.  I don't remember this graph in your original document.  You used this in cross-examination of a Toronto Hydro witness I thought.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm not sure we actually used it in cross-examination.  It was entered as an exhibit.  I don't think we have the exhibit list from Toronto Hydro in front of us, but this is an exhibit in the Toronto Hydro.  In fact, it might have been a response to an undertaking.  I can’t recall.  It was, now that I think of it. It was a response to an undertaking, so it's a J something.  And Mr. Mather advises me that he believes it’s J3.1.  

So I would add that the graph you see on page 2 of the document Mr. Farrell provided is not part of the Toronto Hydro undertaking response.

MR. KAISER:  So where did that come from?

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I'll let Mr. Farrell speak to that.
     MR. KAISER:  Was this some something your client prepared?
     MR. FARRELL:  No, Mr. Chair.  It's a three-page document that Mr. Benum of Board Staff e-mailed to me on Friday.  

MR. KAISER:  Oh, I see.

MR. FARRELL:  And I don’t have any -- the graph doesn't particularly concern me.  I didn't appreciate at the time I had this copy that the graph wasn’t part of the Toronto -- so I made an assumption that proves to be incorrect.  So I have no problem with you, in effect, ripping the graph out, if what we have left is what was part of the Toronto Hydro submission.

MR. KAISER:  Well, maybe you can help us, Mr. Millar.  I guess this is the complete document.  I take it this is all the work of Board Staff?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I believe it is, Mr. Chair.

MR. KAISER:  So you have no difficulty having it entered as it stands, or you do?

MR. MILLAR:  No, I don't, Mr. Chair.  And as I understand it, I think the graph just -- I don't think it adds any information.  I think it just --
     MR. FARRELL:  It just illustrates the trend lines.
     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  It’s just the information on the last page, isn’t it, in graph form?

MR. MILLAR:  That’s right.  So I don’t think it’s anything controversial.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, let's mark this.  What is it, K?

MR. MILLAR:  K1.12, Mr. Chair.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.12 – PART 2:  GRAPH INDICATING TREND LINES

MR. FARRELL:  One of the problems that we have with this, if I might just offer this, Mr. Chair, is if one looks at -- on the first page, December 1999, you can see it's highlighted at the top of the far left-hand margin, if one adds the average for the forecast 10-year Canada bonds, 6.5 plus 0.05 for the average spread –-

MR. MILLAR:  6.15

MR. FARRELL:  -- plus 3.8 percent for the equity risk premium, one does not arrive at 9.88 and we don't understand that.
     MR. KAISER:  Can you address that over the break, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Actually, Ms. Newland brought this to my attention, so I will run this by the person who actually prepared it.
     MR. KAISER:  Who actually prepared the document?

MR. MILLAR:  I think the first page -- Mr. Richie, Mr. Keith Richie.
     MR. KAISER:  Is he around?

MR. MILLAR:  He is in today.
     MR. KAISER:  You better see if he's available, just in case there's a question on this one when we come back.

MR. MILLAR:  I will, Mr. Chair.  
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll take 20 minutes and we'll come back and hear further submissions on this ROE matter.

--- Recess taken at 2:15 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:40 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  


Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Richie is here.  There were some questions on the chart that he had produced.  He is here.  I'm not sure what Mr. Rodger’s plan is, if he intended to make some submissions on this ROE issue and also, of course, the intervenors may wish to address some points. 


SUBMISSIONS RE ROE MADE BY MR. RODGER:


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  


I think my submission can be brief, and I think it goes to the heart of what you've heard earlier in the Toronto Hydro proceeding.  As I say, Toronto Hydro accepts the 9 percent ROE because that was stated in the Handbook.  I think the interesting question that I would put to Mr. Richie if I was allowed to, through you, is why wasn't the Cannon methodology applied as he described it in his paper?   Why wasn't there this automatic adjustment to the equity risk premium if the bond rates also changed?   In other words, why was the 3.8 percent equity risk premium locked in?   


And in our view, the answer to that question is that it was the consensus of the stakeholders in developing the Rate Handbook that the 9 percent ROE would be locked in.  That was the understanding.  So you didn't need to go through the whole model and make all the adjustments because it was understood that the 3.8 would be locked and the 9 percent ROE would be locked, and that that return would apply to both historic test year filers and future test year filers.


So in a sense, it goes back to our motion of a week ago today, that's what we relied on in this proceeding and I would simply ask that that question be put to Mr. Richie to see whether he has the same my understanding that we do.  I think that might help put the essence of this issue into some context.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, do you have any comment on that?  


MR. MILLAR:  I guess you asked me to bring Mr. Richie up here to address this particular document that he produced. 


MR. KAISER:  Let me ask you a question, first of all.  Leaving aside going back to the original argument, I understand all of that.   I think we've been through that.  You have taken the position this afternoon that, notwithstanding the McShane argument, if you are going to change one it's only logical to change risk equity premium at the same time, and that in fact is what Dr. Cannon suggested.  I'm not sure whether you have agreed that that's what Dr. Cannon did or whether you’ve agreed with McShane.  You have said you're not changing your position.  Board staff is not changing its position, that is to say, you regard it still as defensible to just change the economic indicators that you mentioned and not make any adjustment at the same time for the equity risk premium.


MR. MILLAR:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  So that's just seems to me that's just a matter of judgement or policy that you take the view that -- do you take the view that Ms. McShane has accurately described what doctor cannon did or not?  


MR. MILLAR:  Not having read Dr. Cannon's report, I don't dispute that she has applied his methodology.


MR. KAISER:  So in point of fact, you are not following the Cannon approach.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, the Rate Handbook set it at 9 percent, irrespective of what the Cannon methodology was.  It locked in the equity risk premium at 380 basis points.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, I'm not sure that helps much but, Mr. Farrell, do you have any comments?  


SUBMISSIONS RE ROE MADE BY MR. FARRELL:  


MR. FARRELL:  I guess the one thing that we're curious about is some rationale as to why the equity risk premium of 380 was locked in, and for how long has it been locked in.  If one looks at exhibit K1.12, it looks like it has been locked in since December of 1999, at least for the purposes of this presentation.


MR. KAISER:  Can you answer that, Mr. Millar?  


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I think K1.12 is Board Staff’s interpretation of if the Board Panel decides to update the economic indicators, it's our opinion the risk premium stays at 3.8 percent.  The Handbook itself sets it for the historic test year filers, that’s the default.  Maybe I’m wrong, I don’t think it says, Never, ever will this 380 basis points change.  In our submission, if we're updating for the forward test year filers, if we are to do that, then the 3.8 percent continues to apply.


MR. KAISER:  I think we understand your position that the Handbook is 9 percent and the Handbook, in your view, applies only to the those who file on a historical basis.  You are proposing in K1.12 how the formula should apply to forward test year filers.


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.


MR. KAISER:  And to answer Mr. Farrell's question, from 1999 on, the equity risk premium is locked in at 3.8.  That's how you say the formula should be applied to forward test year filers.


MR. MILLAR:  That's our submission, yes.


MR. KAISER:  And I guess you've agreed that the other parties -- it's open to the other parties to argue differently if they choose.


MR. MILLAR:  If they take a different view, that's up to them.


MR. KAISER:  Does that help you Mr. Farrell?  


MR. FARRELL:  It does and it doesn't.  I'm still unclear about the source of the 380.  I do note if one looks at Exhibit K1.6, which is the McShane letter with the table, for December 1999, to arrive at an ROE of 9.88, which I understand is in the 2000 Handbook, applying the Cannon methodology the equity risk premium would arithmetically have to be 3.68 and not 3.80.  Which leaves me confused as to where the 3.80 came from. 


MR. KAISER:  Can you help us there?  I misunderstood the question as well.  I thought Mr. Farrell's question was how long the 3.8 was locked in, but it is somewhat different.  It is:  Where does the 3.8 come from, because if you applied the Cannon methodology it's a different number.


MR. MILLAR:  Just a moment, Mr. Chair.  My understanding is the 380, 380 basis points, comes from the Board's Handbook for 2000, which is RP-1999-0034.  However, there is a disconnect, which has been pointed out by Mr. Farrell.  If you look at the top line, they pointed out that the numbers don't add up.  This is something we pulled together over the break.  


My understanding is that 9.88 figure came from decision EB-1999-0526, and this was an Ontario Hydro Networks company, as it then was, application.  And there the Board set the figure 9.88 percent based on something called, “Guidelines on a formula-based return on common equity for regulated utilities.”  


And I don't believe that's the Cannon report.  I stand to be corrected.  I'm sorry, it's a predecessor to the current Cannon report, Mr. Richie advises me.  So that's where the 9.88 percent comes from.  And I guess that number was stuck in there.  I'm not sure if I can provide further guidance on that, but that is the reason behind why the numbers don't add up to 9.88. 


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, I think the questions are clear on the transcript and if you want to give them any further consideration you can file some answers in writing, Mr. Farrell and Mr. Rodger, if there's any further clarification of your position that's required.  


Mr. Rodger, you look like you have one more question.


MR. RODGER:  No, I just wondered, sir, while we have Mr. Richie here would it be fair to ask him to comment on my issue, the reason the 3.8 was locked in?  Because the 9 percent ROE was also supposed to be locked in.

     MR. KAISER:  I'm not sure that’s a proper question, Mr. Richie.  It's really a policy question.  I have no idea why Board Staff is taking this position.  They are taking this position.  I don't think it's based on Mr. Richie’s calculation.  They’ve taken the position that once you depart from the handbook, at least with respect to this ROE, that they can make these mechanistic adjustments.  Now, as a collateral issue, if that’s the case, should you also be adjusting the equity risk premium?  We understand the issue.  They say no, they’re standing by their original position.  I think it's a matter for argument as to whether it's proper regulatory accounting or not.  I don't think asking Mr. Richie is going to get us anywhere.  

I was putting a different question to you, Mr. Millar.  If you think Board Staff’s position needs to be clarified any further, don't hesitate to provide further responses to these parties so that they can address it in argument.  I'm not sure that it does need to be clarified further, but it has become somewhat confusing.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.
     MR. FARRELL:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair, but should I assume that Board Staff is going to be making submissions on this?  We’ve heard the Staff position, but I, frankly, haven't heard the rationale for it.

MR. KAISER:  And we'll be expecting Mr. Millar to address that in argument.

MR. FARRELL:  Okay, thank you.

MR. KAISER:  And you'll have an opportunity to respond.  

Am I right?
     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  That you’ll be making submissions on this?

MR. MILLAR:  On ROE?  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  And explaining your rationale --

MR. MILLAR:  We will.  

MR. KAISER:  -- to the intervenors and the Panel?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. FARRELL:  Thank you.
     MR. KAISER:  Now, where are we?
     MR. MILLAR:  I'm not sure, Mr. Chair.  I know -- I’m not sure if there are other comments on the ROE issue, if the intervenors --

MR. KAISER:  No, I think we can defer that.  I don't think we need to address ROE any more at this point, do we?

MR. FARRELL:  No.  I think we've completed the evidence of Hydro Ottawa, and there was no intervenor evidence, so I guess the evidentiary portion of the hearing complete.

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:  ^ Bob, leave this one in as a flag for me when reviewing the final transcript – thanks ^

MR. KAISER:  While I have all of you here, I would like to discuss argument.  We are going to continue with your witnesses tomorrow, Mr. Rodger?

MR. RODGER:  That’s right, sir.

MR. KAISER:  And we’re hopeful we’ll finish them Thursday?

MR. RODGER:  Yes, that would be great.  I think we are starting the Schools first thing at 1:00 tomorrow.
    MR. KAISER:  Yes, that’s correct.  And so what I thought, Mr. Rodger and Mr. Farrell, is that we would, that being the case, hear argument from both of you the following Thursday, that is to say, a week this Thursday, oral argument.  We'll do one in the morning and one in the afternoon.  I think that should be sufficient.  We should be able to get it all done in a day.  That will make it easier for all the intervenors.  They won't have to come to town twice.  I don't care which one goes first; you can decide between the two of you.  We’ll take one of you in the morning and one of you in the afternoon.
     MR. FARRELL:  If I may interrupt, sir.  There are two issues to be argued in Hydro Ottawa - line losses and ROE - so I would suspect that the Hydro Ottawa argument process is going to be much shorter than Toronto Hydro, so we would prefer to go first.

MR. KAISER:  Fine.

MR. RODGER:  Sir, I have one issue on Thursday.  I'm involved in organizing a conference that’s being held out of Toronto.  This is the NorthWind electricity conference.  I had been scheduled to be one of the leaders of that conference which is next Wednesday, Thursday and Friday, in Cambridge, Ontario.  Is there any way that the Board would be willing to accept a written argument of Toronto Hydro due perhaps that Monday?
     MR. KAISER:  Well, we could.  Our preference for the oral argument was so that we could deal with any questions that we have.  When does your conference start, Wednesday?

MR. RODGER:  Yes, Wednesday, Thursday, Friday, next week.
     MR. KAISER:  Would you be able to argue Tuesday?
     MR. RODGER:  I think, given the issues in Toronto, sir, that's going to be difficult.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, why don't we -- I thought you said you wanted to file written argument on Monday?

MR. RODGER:  Assuming the hearing ends next Thursday or Friday, I think our hope was that we might have that week, given that –

MR. KAISER:  Oh, I see, you meant the following Monday.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  My plan was to work on it the following weekend.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, there’s no -- we'll accommodate your schedule.  

MR. RODGER:  I appreciate that.

MR. KAISER:  We'll look at the schedule and see if we can hear you on Monday.

And would your preference, Mr. Farrell, be to proceed earlier or later?

MR. FARRELL:  We don't really have a preference.  If the Board would find it more convenient to have both arguments delivered on the same day, then we could do that.  Then, as you point out, the intervenors don't have to come twice.

MR. KAISER:  So you have no objection.  If Mr. Rodger wants to do it on the following Monday, you'll accommodate him?

MR. FARRELL:  Certainly.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, if that’s -- we'll look at our schedule, and assuming we can make necessary arrangements – I checked on Thursday – but we can push it off a couple of days, I'm sure.

MR. RODGER:  I'm grateful for that, sir.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.

Anything else, Mr. Millar?
     MR. MILLAR:  Not from me, no, Mr. Chair.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Farrell?
     MR. FARRELL:  I think I’d just like to deal with the argument process to say that we may want to refer to documents that are sort of on the public record, for example, Dr. Cannon's report, and I don't think they have to be part of a record if they are part of the Board's public process.  So I just want to confirm that so I don't show up with some decisions or whatever and be met with, Well, you’re taking us by surprise, like arguing in court where you show up with your precedents.

MR. KAISER:  One thing I’d like to ask you two gentleman to do, and we're flexible on the schedule, but I’d like to get a written outline of the arguments in a day ahead.  And if you are going to be referring to any materials, at least give us the proper citation so that if people want to dig up the references they can.  I'm not saying you have to provide them all or a thousand copies or any of that.  And this doesn't have to be a detailed written argument but just some general outline of what your position is so that we can follow along, and of course any -- references to any evidence you intend to rely on.

MR. FARRELL:  Certainly.  And if it's not a whole big bank, speaking for Hydro Ottawa -– sorry, speaking to Hydro Ottawa’s intervenor list, there are not that many, so unless we have mountains of paper, which I don’t expect, we can provide a book of authorities, for lack of a better term.

MR. KAISER:  That's useful.  

The same for you, Mr. Millar, if you can, accommodate us in that regard.  

All right, gentlemen, so we will confirm through counsel the schedule for argument, but we're going to aim to accommodate Mr. Rodger and have that on Monday as opposed to Thursday, unless we hear something from other intervenors that causes a problem.  

Mr. Millar, maybe I can ask you to canvass them.  I know some of them are here but some of them are not here.

MR. MILLAR:  The intervenors?
     MR. KAISER:  Yes, just to see whether there's an objection to proceeding on Monday.

MR. MILLAR:  I assume there's no objection from the members who are here, but I know there are some people who are not here, so I will canvass them.

MR. KAISER:  Check with Mr. Gibbons and Mr. Poch.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Shepherd.  I don’t know if Mr. Seal is here or not.  I don’t believe he is.

MR. KAISER:  Okay.  We’ll stand adjourned.  This case is adjourned until we hear argument currently scheduled for a week Monday, and then we will resume with Toronto at 1:00, I think I said, tomorrow afternoon with Mr. Shepherd's witnesses.

MR. MILLAR:  That’s right.

MR. KAISER:  Your witnesses will be available.

MR. RODGER:  They will.

MR. KAISER:  We expect Mr. Shepherd's witnesses to be short.  I’d like to finish with that second panel of yours, if we can.
     MR. FARRELL:  We’re talking Monday, February the 6th, I believe?
     MR. KAISER:  Yes.
     MR. FARRELL:  Thank you.
     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:00 p.m.
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